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--- On commencing at 9:31 a.m.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.  Please be seated.

Good morning, everyone.  Before we start, are there any preliminary matters?
Preliminary Matters:


MR. ROGERS:  Yes, sir.  Thank you.  Several matters.  First, I am informed by Mr. Burrell that there has been no settlement of the export transmission service tariff issue, and, hence, it will have to proceed.

Secondly, I am able to answer some undertaking answers this morning, sir.  We have filed JX -- I'm sorry, J3.1, JX3.3 on a confidential basis.  J3.4 has been filed electronically this morning.  J3.5, J3.11, J3.12, and J4.7 have all been filed.  Thank you, sir.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.  The Panel I believe has those.  Yes, the Panel has those.  Thank you.

MR. ROGERS:  The witnesses are now available for continued questioning.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.  I would just remind the panellists they are still under oath.

Is there an order for proceeding?
HYDRO ONE NETWORKS INC. - PANEL 3 - OM&A AND CAPITAL: SHARED SERVICES, COMPENSATION AND STAFFING, RESUMED

Tom Goldie, Sworn Previously


Keith McDonell, Sworn Previously


Debra Vines, Sworn Previously


Mike Winters, Sworn Previously

MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Chairman, between the ratepayer groups, I am next up, but because I am asking quite a number of questions about personal matters particularly relating to PWU, I think it may be more appropriate if Mr. Stephenson precede me, because he is not going to agree with me on most of my questions.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. Stephenson.

MR. STEPHENSON:  I am in the Board's hands on this.  The fact that Mr. Shepherd and I don't agree logically would suggest that I go after him, but that is simply a matter of choice.

I don't have any -- as I say, I am prepared to go.  That being said, I don't agree that there is any basis that I would -- in logic, law or otherwise, why I would go first, but I am happy to go.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you, sir.  Let's proceed in that fashion.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Stephenson:


MR. STEPHENSON:  Panel, good morning.  My name is Richard Stephenson.  I am counsel for the Power Workers' Union.

Let me ask you a question -- a couple of questions about demographics first.  I am fond of this subject.  I spent some time on this subject regarding your physical plant with the prior panel, and now I want to talk about your personnel.

We learned from your -- the prior panel that your physical plant, you are forecasting over the next five years that it will be getting older, on average, on the basis of the current plan.

The question I have for you is, with respect to your staff, you have also indicated that you have an aging issue, and the question I have for you is:  On the basis of your current plans, five years hence, are you forecasting that on average or median or whatever metric you want to use, that your staff is going to be older, younger, or about the same?

MR. McDONELL:  Mr. Stephenson, I think it is certainly fair to say that in the next five years, we believe that the -- our staff will be older.  When I say older, I mean older in tenure with the company.

Our evidence shows that at the end of December 31st, 2009, 1,000 of our employees are eligible for retirement, and that number jumps up at the end of 2012 to 1,600 employees are eligible for retirement.

But I think what is very interesting is the number of our staff that will be reaching 35 years of service, and that is quite important, because, at the 35-year mark, a person doesn't contribute to our pension plan any longer.  So that is a very strong barometer for somebody to decide to retire.

What we see over the next five years or so is an increase of about 500 employees that will be reaching 35 years of service with the company.  That is pretty significant.

We are also forecasting some significant spikes in the future for retirement in 2013, 2016 and 2021.  We are seeing significant spikes in the retirement levels.


What that is telling us is that we need to be hiring today in order to be prepared to have the resources trained for those inevitable retirements.

MR. STEPHENSON:  So let me just make sure I am clear about this.  Let's use the median age as a metric, and let's talk about your regular staff, because I appreciate it is different with non-regular staff.

Do I understand you correctly that on the basis of your current forecast, the median age of your regular staff will be older five years hence than it is today?

MR. McDONELL:  I thought I actually had some data on that.  I don't.  I was looking at an AMPCO IR that set out our median age from 2005 to 2009, and we are seeing an increase in the median age.  But I don't have the specifics for beyond 2010.

That said, rather than repeating myself, we are certainly -- if you are making the assumption the fact we are seeing our number of people eligible for retirement increasing, I would think it is fair to say that the median age is increasing, as well.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And let me circle back around to this 35 years of service issue, because this is an issue that I don't recollect seeing identified, at least specifically in past hearings.

And maybe I could ask you to turn up Exhibit K2. -- sorry, K2.1, and I am calling this part 2, because there were three parts to K2.1.

This is the Board memo dated November 11, 2009 with respect to the Hydro One Inc. 2010 budget and 2011-2012 outlook.

MR. McDONELL:  Okay.  Does it say at the top dated June... Just one moment.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Yes.  This is submitted by Mr. Struthers and approved for submission by Ms. Formusa.

MR. McDONELL:  Okay, I think we have that.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  If I can, there is -- attached to the memo is a slide deck, and it is page 20 -- or slide 20 of the slide deck.  And it is the demographics.

MR. McDONELL:  Okay.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And I take it this slide is illustrative of the phenomena you were describing in your answer to me a few minutes ago?

MR. McDONELL:  It is, yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  And am I right that this is an attempt by Hydro One to crystallize, as well as it possibly can, the likely actual retirees as opposed to the potential retirees?

Do you know what I mean?  You have been telling us for some time the number of people who are eligible for retirement, but then there is a separate question of who is actually going to retire.

MR. McDONELL:  I think the answer to that is both.  One thing that we always point out in our responses, you have to be somewhat careful of historical retirement levels.  I think they're important to look at, but the staff that we have, they are reaching the eligibility for retirement.  It doesn't necessarily mean they are going to retire.

But the reason I pointed out the 35 years is that the probability of those staff retiring increases dramatically, especially for our trade staff.  There is a significant number of our trade staff that are reaching 35 years of service, and, after 35 years in the trade, they're ready to retire.  You know, their bodies are tired.  That's where we see our trade staff certainly retiring, at that level.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  And so the circled numbers -- or on the graph, there's three circles.  Those are the spikes I think you referred to previously; is that right?

MR. McDONELL:  That is correct.

MR. STEPHENSON:  So am I right that Hydro One has a fairly high confidence level that at least this many people or more are going out the door in those years?

MR. McDONELL:  That is true.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And if we go just back to the prior slide, 19 -- there is actually two slides here, and I am interested in the one on the right-hand side, and, in particular, the bottom -- the lower part of the chart, where you've got this band of possible retirees and likely retirees.

MR. McDONELL:  Correct.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And let me just focus for a moment on 2014, because that is where you've got your parentheses on there.

What is the relationship between -- I take it that the likely retirees there are a number in excess of 1,000.  Is that where I am... for 2014?

MR. McDONELL:  Yes, I would agree with that.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  Is that a cumulative number, or is that the number forecast for 2014 itself?

MR. McDONELL:  That would be the number for 2014 itself.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And what is the relationship between that number -- whatever it is, some number in excess of a thousand -- and the numbers we see on the demographic chart on slide 20?

MR. McDONELL:  I think it is consistent, Mr. Stephenson.  I mean, it is showing that the numbers are increasing.  Maybe I am not understanding your point.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Well, on the -- let's put it this way.  On slide 20, for 2014 I see a number at the 35-year mark at somewhere between 100 and 150, right?

MR. McDONELL:  Correct.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Is that number included in the thousand?  Is it in addition to the thousand?  How does it -- what is the nexus between those two numbers?

MR. McDONELL:  Okay.  I haven't seen this chart before, but I think the answer is that the dark, shaded area where it says "likely retirees," that is most likely the staff that have 35 years.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Well, except the number looks a lot bigger than 125.

MR. McDONELL:  If you look at that bar, that total bar, it is over -- it looks like around 1,200, 1,300.  The light-shaded area is possible retirees, because they have met the eligibility for retirement.  And the smaller bar underneath that is the likely retirees, which I assume are the staff that have 35 years.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Mr. McDonell, you have indicated you hadn't seen this before.  I am just looking at it, and I don't know anything about this chart.  It is not my chart.  But I actually -- the parentheses for likely retirees appears on my chart to be the light area, not the dark area.

I am just -- am I wrong about that?

MR. McDONELL:  Oh, sorry.  I looked at it incorrectly.  You are right.  The likely retirees are the light-shaded area.

MR. STEPHENSON:  All right.  Let me ask you a question now about your building trades for a moment, which is a part of the total compensation, right?

MR. McDONELL:  Correct.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  Am I right that -- this is dangerous because I am going by memory.  I thought I heard something that there was a relatively recent settlement with the EPSCA trades.  Am I right about that?

MR. GOLDIE:  There was a recent settlement with the labourers; that's correct.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Right.  And the different -- as I recollect, yes, you hire your building trades, generally speaking, through an EPSCA agreement, which is an employer organization, but you have a direct relationship with the labourers; is that -- am I right about that?

MR. GOLDIE:  More or less correct, yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  Here is the question I have for you.

We have seen a variety of comparisons of your compensation costs for various employee segments, but I can't recollect -- and maybe I have just missed it -- seeing a comparison of your employment costs as a result -- for your building trades, either through EPSCA or through the labourers, relative to what other Canadian transmission companies pay for their building trades, Hydro-Québec or BC Hydro or what have you.

Have I missed something?  Or is there something in the materials on that subject?

MR. McDONELL:  You are correct to the extent that you have not seen any information on that.

If you are talking about the Mercer study, the EPSCA trades were not included in the Mercer compensation.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Do you have any intelligence on that issue, where your compensation rates for your building trades stands relative to what other Canadian transmission companies paid to their building trades?

[Witness panel confers.]

MR. STEPHENSON:  And if you need a -- if you have something to give by way of undertaking, that's fine as well.

MR. McDONELL:  No, we don't have any information that would show that, but I think I just want to make one point about how bargaining is done with the EPSCA trades.

We, Hydro One, are one of a number of employers that bargain under the EPSCA banner with our union trades.  So we don't bargain individually with the construction unions.

MR. STEPHENSON:  I understood that.  So you can't help me whether you are higher, lower or about the same as, say, Hydro Quebec pays its building trades, or BC Hydro, or whatever?

MR. McDONELL:  I don't have any information.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  I just want to deal with trends in the composition of your overall workforce.

As I was looking at some of the interrogatory responses, am I correct that PWU-represented staff, as a percentage of your total regular workforce, are declining as a percentage of your total regular workforce?

MR. McDONELL:  Of the total – the total -- you said the total regular headcount?

MR. STEPHENSON:  Yes.

MR. McDONELL:  The total regular?

[Witness panel confers.]

MR. McDONELL:  Yeah.  I suppose.  I am not sure if it's that many.  It is roughly around 70 percent of our regular workforce, but we have hired more Society-represented staff over the last couple of years, so that might make the percentage of PWU slightly less.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  As a percentage of your total workforce, it has declined significantly?  PWU regulars --

MR. McDONELL:  I am not sure what you mean by "significant", but just on the point that we have been hiring more Society staff, I would say it has gone down, yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Sorry.  Let me -- I am talking about PWU regulars as a percentage of your total FTEs.

MR. McDONELL:  Our total headcount, yes, it has gone down.

MR. STEPHENSON:  It has gone down in a material way?

MR. McDONELL:  I think I can agree with that.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  All right.  Now, I want to deal with the compensation levels issue squarely, because I know it is an issue for the Board.

And I am not -- I appreciate that you've got some bargaining coming up with the PWU, and I appreciate you will be able to tell me some things and not others.  I accept that.

If the Board told you -- that is the company -- that it thought you needed to achieve a 10 percent reduction in compensation levels for PWU staff in your next collective agreement, what would you tell the Board as to the achievability of that outcome from your perspective?

MR. GOLDIE:  I think we would tell them that the chances of that are extremely low, that that would not happen within one collective agreement.

It is very difficult, as I talked about a little bit on Friday, to take wages down through the collective bargaining process.  We have a legally-binding agreement both parties have agreed to.  To make any changes to it, you have to have mutual agreement.

I would find it -- I couldn't think of a situation, other than some sort of catastrophic development, where a bargaining unit would agree to a 10 percent reduction, and there is no mechanism in place, because we have a legally-binding document, to force that to happen without both parties agreeing.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And are you familiar with a concept known as downward wage rigidity?  Have you ever heard that term?

MR. GOLDIE:  Yes, I have.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Can you describe for us what you understand it to mean?

MR. GOLDIE:  Well, within the context of collective bargaining, once you get a collective agreement and a rate established, it is extremely difficult to have that rate reduced.

The only time that it happens in Canadian labour relations, as I mentioned, is where there is some sort of catastrophic factor going on.  There is great rigidity against reduced compensation.  It usually only happens where an organization is on the verge of bankruptcy, similar to what we had in the situation with the auto sector in Canada.

Other than that, it is very difficult in a collective bargaining setting to have wages reduced.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And let's assume for a moment that you are unable to achieve a negotiated outcome in collective bargaining.

Can you describe for us what -- where do you go from there?  What are the conceivable outcomes?

If the Board was to say to you, We think the prudent thing for the company to do is to go to the mattresses on this issue.  I just want to understand, where does it go if you are not able to get an agreement on those kinds of terms?

MR. GOLDIE:  Well, within Hydro One, with all of our bargaining agents, we have the right to strike or lock out, depending on which party initiates it.  We do not have binding arbitration with any of our bargaining units.

So if we got to the point of reaching an impasse, the only way of resolving it is through a strike lockout mechanism --

MR. STEPHENSON:  All right.

MR. GOLDIE:  -- or the government could intercede and either suggest or direct both parties to arbitration.

MR. ROGERS:  Mr. Chairman, excuse me.  May I intervene now just to ask for the Board's direction here?

I am a little concerned about where this is going.  I know Mr. Stephenson is trying to be careful.  I would just like to make it clear, with your approval, I hope, to the witnesses that they are not obligated to answer questions without your direction to do so if it is -- if it involves sensitive labour relations issues and if it prejudices their ability to bargain effectively this coming session.

I personally would like to leave it to Mr. Goldie to make that judgment, but I wish him to be aware, sir, with your approval, that if he gets to that point, he should tell us so that we can consider it.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  If he wasn't aware, he is now.

MR. ROGERS:  That's right.  He was, as well, but I wanted you to be.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I am being facetious, but I think Mr. Goldie strikes me as being able to know where that line is, and, if he feels uncomfortable with answering a question, he can seek the Board's assistance or the assistance of his counsel.

MR. ROGERS:  Thank you very much.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And, Mr. Goldie, just to be fair, as I hope I tried to make it clear at the outset, I want to deal with this at a concept level.

MR. GOLDIE:  Yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Certainly I am comfortable with you dealing with it at that level.

MR. GOLDIE:  Okay, thank you.

MR. STEPHENSON:  So is it possible for the parties to voluntarily agree to go to binding arbitration?

MR. GOLDIE:  Yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And does the company -- and I am not talking in relation to this particular collective agreement, but does the company generally have a view about the advisability, favourability, et cetera, plus pros and cons of that route?

MR. GOLDIE:  Yes, we do.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And what is it, generally speaking?

MR. GOLDIE:  Generally speaking, we are not favourably disposed towards binding arbitration.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Why is that?

MR. GOLDIE:  Well, there are a number of reasons for it.  And to give you an example, there were two recent cases settled by arbitration in the electricity sector, one with the IESO and the Society, and one with New Horizons and the Society.

And in the IESO case, the arbitrator made the statement that arbitration generally manifests a certain reluctance to awarding breakthrough measures or provisions.

And basically what the arbitrator was saying was, if you want to hold the line on compensation or reduce compensation, you are not going to do it through the arbitration process.

At the same time, the New Horizon's arbitrator said that of all the criteria considered by interest arbitrators, replication is the most important.  That is what the parties could have expected to achieve had they been forced to an impasse, and those measures take into account current labour market and economic realities, as well as the overall results realized by similarly situated parties over the same time periods.

Both arbitrators have said, if you want significant change, you want step change, you want reductions, you are not going to get it through an arbitrator.

If we go back to 2005, prior to that we did have binding arbitration with the Society.  What we realized in that process was that if we wanted to make significant change, as we attempted to and succeeded to a certain extent in 2005, we needed the right to strike and lockout.  Arbitrators, generally speaking, are not predisposed to upsetting the status quo.

So for those reasons, as we try to keep compensation levels down, we believe that the strike lockout mechanism is the way to do it, not the arbitrated approach.

One last piece I would put forward is a recent study by the C.D. Howe Institute, who looked at particularly the public sector and found that, on average, arbitratored agreements resulted in a 1-1/2 percent higher overall cost to the company than did traditional bargaining with the strike lockout mechanism.

So I think a lot of evidence points to the fact that if we want to keep compensation levels down, we've got to go the strike lockout route, not the arbitration route.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And I think you indicated that -- leaving aside voluntary agreement to binding arbitration, you can wind up in binding arbitration through other means, as well, potentially, in the absence of a negotiated outcome; is that right?

MR. GOLDIE:  Sorry.  If you are asking if there is no binding approach to it and there is no agreement, it could be legislated, or it could be suggested.

And I will give an example of a suggestion.  In 2005, we had reached an impasse with the Society.  There was an 18-week work stoppage and the government suggested that both parties look at binding arbitration.  It was not legislated, but it was suggested.

So there are a number of levels that this could occur at.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Suggestion being step 1 of a two-step process, likely, when you are dealing with the government.

MR. GOLDIE:  Well, seeing as we found their suggestion agreeable, I am not sure if there would have been a second step, or not.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Understood.  Well, all right.  So let's then look at alternative scenarios.  So why don't you just, you know, plan on locking the PWU out?  Why isn't that -- you know, you go in with an aggressive demand for reductions, and, if you are not able to get agreement, why don't you just lock them out?  Isn't that the logical step, next step?

MR. GOLDIE:  Well, I guess in our approach to bargaining, we would take it one step at a time.

I mean, the PWU is aware of the compensation pressures on Hydro One, has been aware of it since we were formed.  I think our evidence shows that we have been most successful successor company of old Ontario Hydro when it comes to collective bargaining, and we have been able to reach negotiated agreements during the time that we have been Hydro One.

We have received some cost savings, and significant cost savings, from those agreements.

So our view is that we go in with the approach that we're going to reach a mutually agreeable collective agreement, and so far we have been successful in doing that.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And just in terms of -- you know, the Board is going to be interested in whether the approach you have taken is reasonable and prudent.

And if we can assess the reasonableness and prudence of one outcome, I think it needs to be measured against the reasonableness and prudence of other available outcomes.

MR. GOLDIE:  Hmm-hmm.

MR. STEPHENSON:  I mean, it is not a -- it is a relative exercise.

And so in any strike lockout scenario for a moment -- and I don't want to get into any bargaining details here, but I think it is important for the Board to understand what the consequences to the system and the customers, et cetera, could be or are reasonably expected to be, from the company's perspective, in that scenario.

MR. GOLDIE:  Yes.  If what you're suggesting -- if what you're asking is what would the outcome of a work stoppage be, particularly a Power Workers' Union work stoppage, the company would be hard pressed to keep the system going for a reasonable period of time.

We would be capable of dealing with issues, problems that came up, and making them safe.  Public safety would be number one, so we would make sure that that would happen.

But in terms of restoration, it would be very, very difficult.  And it's difficult to predict the period of time that we would be able to keep the system running for.  So much of it would be dependent on weather and other factors, but we have a reduced number of management people in the organization from what we had in 1985, which was the last time there was a PWU work stoppage.

Safety requirements are much higher now.  The system is much larger and under much more stress than it would have been in 1985.

So a work stoppage with the PWU would be difficult for the organization to sustain.

MR. STEPHENSON:  If that is the case, why wouldn't it be reasonable for the Board to say to Hydro One:  Well, why don't you take steps to make yourselves as a company in a better position to keep the system operating in the event of a work stoppage?

Why wouldn't that be a reasonable and prudent thing for the company to do, to put itself in a better spot?

MR. GOLDIE:  Well, I think we are doing that.  I mean, you've seen a lot of evidence filed on what we're trying to do with the system, how we're trying to improve the system, how we're trying to make it more robust.  That in itself would be helpful in the -- in a work stoppage situation.

Because as I mentioned, our issue is going to be when equipment becomes problematic.  So obviously we want to strengthen the system.

When you have a limited number of dollars, it is a question of:  Do you want to improve the system, or do you want to take steps which are going to harden the system against the work stoppage?

As I mentioned earlier, we've got significantly less management people in the organization who would be able to keep the system running.

The system is much more complex now.  Safety is an issue.

It would be very difficult to be able to put the resources necessary in to have a -- in effect, a phantom work plan to keep the organization running in the event of a work stoppage.

Our view is that it is not a prudent way to spend our dollars at the present time, although in a work stoppage we would have contingency plans in place to be able to keep the system running for as long as we could.

MR. STEPHENSON:  You have -- in your prefiled evidence and in your interrogatory responses -- you have indicated that there are a variety of factors that come into play in influencing the outcome of any particular round of collective bargaining.

And I think you said fairly and intuitively that it is context-specific and it will -- which are the more important factors will depend on the circumstances; did I get that right?  That is the gist of your evidence in that regard?

MR. GOLDIE:  Yes, generally that's correct.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  A couple of factors which I think you identified and I just wanted to confirm with you, amongst many, are the percentage changes or escalations that are prevalent in the marketplace at a point in time.

MR. GOLDIE:  That's correct.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Are the absolute levels of compensation prevalent in the marketplace also a factor that affects outcomes?

MR. GOLDIE:  They are a factor which affects outcomes, but unfortunately, not one of the primary factors.

As I mentioned earlier, if you look at arbitration, for example, arbitrators are far more concerned about percentage increases than absolute dollar increases.

Certainly, the company's perspective is the dollar increases are what is important, or more important.  From the bargaining unit's points of view, from the members' point of view, who, as I mentioned previously, have to ratify the agreement, and from the issue of arbitrators who may eventually have some input into it, it is the percentage amount rather than the absolute amount that is important.

There is a pecking order or a hierarchy which has been established within the province between all of the companies in the electricity sector, and most of those companies' bargaining units and arbitrators are intent on maintaining that status quo and not upsetting it.

Hence the quote about not making great changes or having a lot of step change in the industry.

So bargaining units are attempting to maintain the status quo.  That's why those percentage increases are so important and play such a big part in the final resolution of the agreement.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And in terms of the pecking order –- if you used that expression -- Bruce Power is at the top; am I right about that?

MR. GOLDIE:  Yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And where are you relative to them?

MR. GOLDIE:  We are significantly below Bruce Power in terms of actual dollar amounts.  And we do have -- we do have filed evidence on that, which is Exhibit C1, tab 3, schedule 2, page 14.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Right.  I just want to finish up on this and its -- take a forward-looking outlook for a moment, with the assistance of the Board.

In terms of the company's situation -- bearing in mind the level of future activity that is foreseen, your demographics, labour market conditions generally, et cetera -- the stresses, or the factors influencing your -- the pressures on compensation that exist today, are they likely to be materially different three years hence?  Five years hence?  Ten years hence?

Do you have a view about that?

MR. GOLDIE:  Well, I think there is increasing pressure on our compensation system, as there is on all organizations.

Our prediction is that the labour market -- especially for the types of people that we're looking for, who are highly skilled and highly educated -- that market is going to remain very tight.

And we have to walk the balance between making sure that our compensation is reasonable on the one hand and is prudent, but on the other hand is still at a level which is going to attract people to our industry.

And as I mentioned, our view and the view of the organizations across Canada which look at this in the electricity sector, the Canadian Electricity Association human resource committee and the Electricity Sector Council, both of which are nation-wide organizations, predict that.

And we believe it to be true in Ontario, as well, that there is going to be an increased demand and a reduced supply for the type of labour we need.  And one of the significant factors which is going to impact on that is the compensation level of people coming into the industry, and our company in particular.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And let me just conclude on this.  I asked you earlier about your view as to the achievability of a 10 percent across-the-board decrease in compensation, and you gave me an answer on that.

Is your answer any different if I asked you about 5 percent or 3 percent or 1 percent, any amount of decrease?

MR. GOLDIE:  I think the chances of getting a decrease in compensation, a true decrease in compensation, is zero.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Those are my questions.  Thank you very much.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you, Mr. Stephenson.  Mr. Shepherd.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Shepherd:


MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

My name is Jay Shepherd.  I am counsel for the School Energy Coalition.  I think I have met some of you, but I don't think I have cross-examined any of you before.

I am going to be asking you questions in three main areas.  I am going to first talk about Cornerstone and information technology.  You have somebody who can answer that?  Good.

And then staffing costs and staffing levels, and then if I have time at the end, I will ask you a couple of questions about the pension.

Do you have somebody who can answer questions about the pension?

MS. VINES:  It would probably depend on the nature of your question.  Mr. Struthers, on panel 4, will be speaking to the pension plan from the perspective of results.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, wonderful.  Thank you.  Then I won't be asking you questions on the pension plan, okay.

But just before I get to those two -- now two main areas, I wonder if I could ask you to turn up the transcript for last Friday, at page 44.

You are dealing with shared services; right?

MS. VINES:  Yes, I am.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And there is something -- on page 44 of the transcript from Friday, there is something that I just want to clear up.

It looks to me -- do you have that there?

MS. VINES:  Not yet.  Will it appear on the screen?

MR. SHEPHERD:  I do not know.

MR. ROGERS:  Best, I think, to get the transcript.

MS. VINES:  Okay, we have that.  Thanks.

MR. SHEPHERD:  This is just a small item, but I just want to clear it up, because I am not sure I understood it.  It looks to me on this page like Mr. Marcello is saying that you have telecom infrastructure that you need for the power system, but to the extent there is excess bandwidth in that infrastructure, it is made available to the competitive telecom business.  Is that right?

MR. WINTERS:  I can answer that question.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, sure.

MR. WINTERS:  The telecom infrastructure that we have in place for power system operations is separate from the telecom used for business -- business telecom, as well as Hydro One telecom's commercial business.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you don't have any telecom assets that are in the utility's rate base that are made available to the competitive telecom business?

MR. WINTERS:  That's correct, we do not.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Wonderful.  See, I thought I misunderstood it.

So now I want to turn to the Cornerstone project.  The Cornerstone is your biggest IT project over quite a number of years; right?  It is a big deal?

MR. WINTERS:  Cornerstone was a large undertaking for the company, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So I am going to ask you a bunch of questions on it.  Why don't you give me the short summary of what Cornerstone is, the elevator pitch?

MR. WINTERS:  Okay.  Here is the elevator pitch.  Cornerstone was an enterprise application end-of-life replacement that also included some business transformation or business process improvement.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  We love this project, by the way, so don't get me wrong when I ask you with questions about it -- not everything about it, but almost everything about it.

Would we be correct in assuming that this is modernizing your technology; right?

MR. WINTERS:  Yes, it is.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And the result is that you are able to deliver higher quality work at a lower cost, is that right, the company as a whole, not just IT?  The company as a whole is able to deliver higher quality work at a lower cost because you have a better IT infrastructure; right?

MR. WINTERS:  I would agree with you, but I would add to that that it is more than just an IT infrastructure.

It is the information systems that are used and that are critical to carrying out a number of business capabilities or business processes.  And, yes, the intent was to deliver some improvements to how we carry out our business.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, I am looking at School Energy Coalition IR number 3, which is Exhibit I, tab 7, schedule 3.

And, Members of the Panel, I am awfully sorry I didn't provide a package of cross materials.  I am going to refer to quite a lot of things in this cross, but unfortunately our office moved on Friday and we have nothing working at all.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. Thiessen may have a complaint, but we will manage.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.  Do you have that interrogatory, sir?

MR. WINTERS:  One moment, please.

I have that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So this is a PowerPoint presentation, and it is the -- this is your current plan for the introduction of new or enhanced technology in your business; right?

MR. WINTERS:  Are you referring to the "Business Technology Roadmap", which is the cover page?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes, yes, yes.  Okay.  So this is set up as a presentation.  Who was this presentation given to, and when?

MR. WINTERS:  This is set up as a presentation, but really it is used -- we happen to use the -- this presentation style to actually contain the business technology roadmap for the company.

So this document has been presented to our board of directors, as well as our senior management team.

MR. SHEPHERD:  When was it presented to your board?

MR. WINTERS:  I actually had the luxury of presenting the latest iteration just last week, though they have seen a version of it in previous business transformation subcommittee meetings, and that was last September, and then to the broader board in December.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Last September was to a committee?

MR. WINTERS:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And last week was to a committee?

MR. WINTERS:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And last week you presented something different than this, or is it the same document?

MR. WINTERS:  It's the same document.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, good.

So on pages 2 and 3, if I understand correctly, you paint a picture of a utility that is presently embracing a more sophisticated use of technology to make its business better; right?

MR. WINTERS:  I agree with that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But it also suggests - and just tell me whether this is right looking at these two pages - that there is still a lot more change to come in this area over the next few years?  You are not done?

MR. WINTERS:  Absolutely not.  We are not done yet.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So could you turn to page 6?  This is headed up "Transformation Roadmap".

MR. WINTERS:  I am there.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Do I understand correctly that the left-hand column here that says "Present Day", this is where you are right now?

MR. WINTERS:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And so, for example, you have already implemented Cornerstone phases 1 and 2?

MR. WINTERS:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You already have ERP, enterprise resource planning; yes?

MR. WINTERS:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You have had that for a while; right?

MR. WINTERS:  Enterprise resource planning is really
-- the ERP that we implemented with Cornerstone Phase 1 and 2 was SAP, and that's our ERP now.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You had one before and you replaced it?

MR. WINTERS:  It replaced -- primarily, SAP replaced two legacy applications, which were Passport and PeopleSoft, that we used for a number of years in the past.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I am going to come to that in a second.  You have centralized outage dispatch; right?

MR. WINTERS:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That is fairly new?

MR. WINTERS:  It would be within the new millennium, but we have had a centralized outage management system for -- since at least 2004.  It was probably introduced a little before that, but...

MR. SHEPHERD:  This is the dispatch component of it; right?  This is the work management part of it, or is it all of it?

MR. WINTERS:  Work management falls under a number of different categories.  We have work management as it relates to outages, as it relates to customer work and as it relates to our sustainment and development work.

So those are all originated from different systems.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And you talk here about transmission SCADA, and that is something you have had for quite a while; right?

MR. WINTERS:  Transmission SCADA is our network management system.  You would have heard Paul Tremblay talk about the NMS.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.

MR. WINTERS:  We recently upgraded that application within the last couple of years and introduced quite a number of cyber security improvements to it.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So the stuff that you have now -- I am going to get to the stuff you are planning to do, but the stuff that you have now has saved you a lot of money already; right?

MR. WINTERS:  I wouldn't necessarily characterize it that way.

What a lot of these systems do -- for example, I just spoke of the NMS -- and upgrading the network management system wasn't necessarily a cost-savings motivation, but it was to further -- further fortify the security capabilities of the overall power system, as well as to increase the reliability and the supervisory control and data acquisition that is done out of the grid control centre.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So you will have some things that improve your security, but I mean, improving your security saves you money too, right?  Because you have better security against the losses associated with bad things happening?

MR. WINTERS:  Many in the industry and cross-industry see security as an additional cost, or compliance as additional cost.

The way it would actually save you money is in the case where you are avoiding a catastrophic event.  So in that case, absolutely, it will save you money because you can detect and deter those situations more readily.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Similarly, a name of these other things like the ones that are directed at reliability, for example, they don't save you money directly, but greater reliability saves you money in the long run, right?

MR. WINTERS:  Again, I would agree with that, in that reliability, greater reliability will decrease the number of outages or the frequency -- or the frequency and duration of outages.

So in that regard, yes, you would think that it would save us money from –-

MR. SHEPHERD:  I was actually making a more prosaic point, which is that you're going to have to deliver the reliability to your customers one way or another.  And if you have can do it through an IT solution, that saves you from spending the money on people or machines or other things to produce the same result; true?

MR. WINTERS:  Agreed, with the caveat, and I don't mean to be argumentative here.  I just want to caution that there isn't an IT solution to a business problem.  There is a business solution with information technology or information system components.  So a technology won't solve a business issue.  However, technology of course does play a significant role.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  And you use it, in fact, not as a solution, but as a tool.  You call them solutions, but they're really tools to help the solution work?

MR. WINTERS:  The overall solution includes the business process, as well as the IT systems that they're used to carry out those business processes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So I take it from what you're saying that you don't have an estimate of -- all of this past investment, you don't have an estimate of what you're saving now for more having spent all of this money?  That is not something you could reasonably do?

MR. WINTERS:  No.  I wouldn't agree with that, and if we want to go back to the Cornerstone example, I think you will see in the evidence what the historic costs have been, as well as within the evidence -- I believe it is D1-3-7 -- it lays out what the ongoing savings expectations are from both an OM&A, a capital transmission and distribution perspective.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sure, and I am actually going to ask you some questions about that in a few minutes.

So in general, it is fair to say that the fact that you have invested in this IT infrastructure, these various IT solutions or IT tools, means that you are spending less money on other things and you have less personnel, et cetera?

You would have more of those things if you didn't have these tools, right?

MR. WINTERS:  Again, using Cornerstone as an example, I am going into the hypothetical, but if we did not replace Passport and PeopleSoft and introduce the improvements to business process, yes, I would say that we would end up with more people than what we otherwise need now.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, one of the things that people in the software business know and say to their customers is that if you save money through IT investments, you really have two choices; one is you can reduce your overall budget because you saved some money, or you freed up some money to go after other priorities; that's true?

MR. WINTERS:  True.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Hydro One does a bit of both, right?

MR. WINTERS:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So then the middle column on this page, which is labelled "near-term," this looks to me like the work you are planning to do in the test period, roughly?  Is that about right?

MR. WINTERS:  I wouldn't give it a one-to-one relationship, but a lot of the work or projects laid out in that middle column, yes, will be underway within the test years.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So for example, I see here "launch of the smart grid" which is something you expect to do in the test period?

MR. WINTERS:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And I see here "e-customer upgrade."  I take it that is your ability to communicate more efficiently with your customers through the Internet?

MR. WINTERS:  That is the web-presentment element of our customer interaction, yes, including the time-of-use portion associated with the smart meter.

MR. SHEPHERD:  This is e-billing, accepting payments, questions and complaints, those sorts of things?

MR. WINTERS:  Yes, true.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So that is almost entirely distribution, right?  You don't really have to deal with that very much on the transmission side?

MR. WINTERS:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And "mobile IT," that refers to the hand-held devices for your field personnel; is that right?

MR. WINTERS:  It is more than just the hand-held devices.  It is actually the software application that's installed with it, providing a standard platform, interfaces to GIS and to SAP, for example.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But it is a system that allows them out in the field to access information, file reports, without coming back to base, right?

MR. WINTERS:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That should save you a bunch of money?

MR. WINTERS:  That will introduce efficiencies, absolutely.  It will also allow us to collect more data than we historically could, which allows us to feed the overall asset management system, which allows for better analytics.

So the downstream effects to be able to make better business decisions by being able to enable our workforce to collect more data.

MR. SHEPHERD:  It is quite an expensive system, though, right?  I mean, because you have to have all of these hand-held devices and stuff, it costs a lot of money to implement?

MR. WINTERS:  I could probably take you to the investment summary document, where we do lay out the mobile -–

MR. SHEPHERD:  All I am getting is a "bigger than a breadbox" sense.  It is a fairly big-ticket item?  Yes?

MR. WINTERS:  It is in -- I believe if you went to the evidence, it would -- it's –- and again, I don't want to misquote, and I can verify it if you wish, but we are four to six million over the period.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You have one here called "advanced asset analytics, IED data to SAP."

I assume that refers to your migration to SAP NetWeaver; is that right?

MR. WINTERS:  No, it is actually bigger than that.  So IED is intelligent electronic device.  As you know, in our transmission system we have a lot of these intelligent electronic devices installed.  This is allowing us to get a lot of the very valuable data from those devices all the way back into our asset management system, to do what I just spoke of, providing better analytics so that better asset decisions can be made.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So it sounds like sort of SCADA on steroids.  It is the next step beyond that, right?

MR. WINTERS:  SCADA is the primary purpose, but what it also -- what it also does is it allows for the data that is collected for SCADA purposes and the asset condition data or the number of times a breaker operated or the operating temperature of a transformer, it allows that information to go into our asset management system, that, again, goes into the asset analytics portion to help us determine when it is best to maintain or replace particular equipment.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So once more, it is an improvement over an existing system, right?

MR. WINTERS:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And then you have "customer relationship management," CRM?

That doesn't apply to the transmission business, right?  That is primarily the distribution business?

MR. WINTERS:  No.  That is incorrect.  The CRM, the customer relationship management system is primarily for our large transmission customers.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.

MR. WINTERS:  The customer information system, which you will see also in the –- I think on the right-hand column, that is primarily for our distribution customers.  That is our customer information system and billing system.

MR. SHEPHERD:  CRM is sort of a system to help competitive businesses deal with their customers.  Your transmission customers sort of don't have a choice, do they?

MR. WINTERS:  A CRM system has a lot of customer contact and workflow capabilities to allow for better processing of work associated with our large customers.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Basically, you have an electronic file on the customer, so you know what you have done for them in the past and you know what they need now, that sort of thing, right?

MR. WINTERS:  That is a part of it.  But again, going back to the workflows.  So where we have to conduct a piece of work for one of our large customers that involves many different hand-offs across business units and lines of business, this will facilitate that process and make sure that the work is completed in the best possible way.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So just two more items in this section.

You have one that is "scheduling and planning" so you already have that automated now, scheduling and planning, right?  This is an upgrade?

MR. WINTERS:  Schedule and planning is done out of various systems, as I mentioned, SAP outage management and customer information system.  This is to make further improvements to our schedule and planning capabilities, maybe rationalize that some into -- into less applications.

MR. SHEPHERD:  One other thing that caught my attention is "social network and crowd source."  I take it Hydro One is going to have a Facebook page?  Is that what this is about?

MR. WINTERS:  So --

MR. SHEPHERD:  If you say yes...

MR. WINTERS:  Social network and crowd source is more of an internal capability, and it's using some of our existing Microsoft tools, such as SharePoint, to allow for better collaboration and better communication within the company.  So we will use social networking concepts, but not necessarily introduce internal Twitter or internal Facebook.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Your firewall probably blocks Facebook, right?

MR. WINTERS:  We don't promote it within the company.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And the last thing on that column that I want to ask you about is "next generation GIS."

There is a project, a business case on that, right?

MR. WINTERS:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You already have a GIS; right?

MR. WINTERS:  We do.

MR. SHEPHERD:  This adds functionality?

MR. WINTERS:  The GIS program or project is to, again, rationalize a number of databases that we currently have into one centralized enterprise GIS, and GIS is really the foundation for distribution management systems.  So we're talking more about distribution.  But, again, this isn't a transmission- or distribution-specific slide.

So to get -- to rationalize all of our geo-spatial data across the province into one database, it will then facilitate, again, better analytics, better work scheduling.  It is to -- next generation GIS will be to rationalize what we have, as well as build better links to other systems, such as mobile and SAP and the distribution management system, for example.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So if I am looking at all of those -- these things under the "Near Term" column - what I am thinking of is the "Test Period" column - it looks to me, and tell me whether I am right in characterizing it this way, that most of them are upgrades to existing technologies that you have, existing functionality you already have, that you are making it better and integrating it better.  Is that right, generally speaking?

MR. WINTERS:  Generally speaking, yes.  There is the introduction of some new -- new technology, but, again, we're building on -- we are building on what we have had.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Then I am looking at the "Longer Term" column now.  This is -- you've got "Hydro One Future".

And at the top you say, "Strategic Convergence, Interoperability of IT & OT to Deliver Core Business Capabilities."
And I take it that is what you were talking about earlier, and that is that you get the IT and the business processes to work more closely together; is that right?

MR. WINTERS:  It's getting the information technology and the operations technology, so these are the power system devices out in the field, making sure that we can get that very valuable data all the way back to the asset managers that can make better asset decisions.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  And so the two items on this list that look like the two biggest ticket items are SCADA for distribution and a new CIS.  Those are both distribution oriented; right?

MR. WINTERS:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  They're not really being charged to the transmission system?

MR. WINTERS:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  You also have enterprise content management.  You already have something that does that, but this is the SAP solution for it?

MR. WINTERS:  No, that isn't correct.  This is new.  This is introducing -- enterprise content management isn't necessarily a single technology, but it's a better method and introducing new systems to better manage our structured and unstructured data.

Unstructured data is e-mails, Word documents, Excel spreadsheets, and so on.  So it is to better manage how we deal with the enterprise's information.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But you already have Open Text, or something like that, doing enterprise content management, don't you?

MR. WINTERS:  Open Text is part of the new solution, but it is not in production yet, no.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you don't have anything doing it right now?

MR. WINTERS:  Our enterprise content management system, we are leveraging SharePoint.  We are leveraging network-shared drives, e-mail.  So it is probably common to what many companies do, but also many companies are moving towards a more streamlined enterprise content management solution.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I see on this list supply chain refinement and 3D computer-aided design.  These are both upgrades to existing things.  You already have a supply chain system.  You already have a CAD/CAM system.  You are improving them now; right?

MR. WINTERS:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You will see there is a theme here.

MR. WINTERS:  Hmm-hmm.

MR. SHEPHERD:  There is one thing here that I had no idea what you were talking about.  It says, "Geo-Spatial-Concentric Operations and Asset Mgmt".  Help me out here.

MR. WINTERS:  Very similar to next generation GIS.  So this is to -- for example, within the control room at the grid control centre, it is to add a geo-spatial schematic, if you will, to the single-line diagrams that they use.  So the intent there is to improve the situational awareness to a controller so they can understand geographically on a map what's going on at a particular station and how it contributes to different conditions or downstream conditions at other stations that surround it.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you are going to have a 3-D drawing of the station, and the person is going to come in and they're going to say, Okay, that's over there and that's over there; right?

MR. WINTERS:  Two-dimensional.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, 2-D.

MR. WINTERS:  3-D is for the CAD.  It can be ready to design a drawing.

MR. SHEHPERD:  You have a lot going on.  Can you jump to page 10, please?

MR. WINTERS:  I'm there.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So this describes your strategy as one of simplification, and I am going to ask you about that in a second.

It is; right?  It is a strategy of simplifying the system?

MR. WINTERS:  Correct.  It is about rationalizing the number of applications that we use within our IT environment.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And it also refers to cost reductions in productivity.  But the thing I want to ask you about here is, it says, "Better position us for the next outsourcing contract."

Can you help me with that?  What does that mean?

MR. WINTERS:  So our current outsourcing contract will be in place until May 2015.  As part of the overall costs for the outsourcing arrangement, the IT outsourcing makes up roughly 50 percent of the overall costs.

So part of the company's IT strategy is to simplify that environment and shrink the number of applications that we use, in essence, creating a simpler term of reference, that when we put it out for public tender, we should be able to get lower cost bids, because it is a simplified application landscape that they will be bidding on.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So this wasn't for the last go-round.  This is the INERGI contract; right?

MR. WINTERS:  The INERGI contract is what we currently have until May 2015, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Didn't you just renew that last year, or this year maybe?

MR. WINTERS:  We extended the contract effective early spring of this year until May 2015.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So did this strategy help you with that extension of the contract?  Did you get any changes that came about as a result of these technology investments?

MR. WINTERS:  Yes, we did.  We were able to negotiate a lower and declining IT base cost over the test years and beyond, and those are reflected in the IT evidence.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I looked for that and I couldn't find it.

Could you tell me where I would find the details on that particular saving in the evidence, if you know?

MR. WINTERS:  Yes.  If I could take you to C1, tab 2, 9, if you go to the sustainment section, which starts on page 4.

MR. SHEPHERD:  C1, tab 2?

MR. WINTERS:  Tab 2, schedule 9, page 4.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.

MR. WINTERS:  Table 2 on the top of that page reflects base IT sustainment, OMS, which is open market system, and other incremental sustainment.

So these are largely my INERGI costs.  And so you will see, as a result of the extended contract, the base IT sustainment services are declining slightly and are not increasing.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Is there a particular part of your IT investment that is driving that saving, or is it all of it?

MR. WINTERS:  I'm sorry, could you repeat the question?

MR. SHEPHERD:  You are getting that saving in the outsourcing contract because you have invested money in IT; right?

Is it a particular IT tool or package that has got you that result, or is it just the whole strategy?

MR. WINTERS:  I would say it is part of the entire strategy.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And now your INERGI costs are actually going up; right?  That contract, the overall contract, is going up; right?

MR. WINTERS:  No, that is not correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I have it at 125 million in 2011 and 127.2 in 2012.

MR. WINTERS:  Could I ask what you are referring to?

MR. SHEPHERD:  I saw that in VECC IR No. 34.

MR. WINTERS:  Could you tell me what the number is for VECC?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, sorry.  It is - just a second - tab 4, so it is I-4-34.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  It may be on your screen, as well, sir.

MR. WINTERS:  I've got the -- I've got it up now.

MR. SHEPHERD:  See on page 2 here it says total INERGI $125 million in 2011; $127.2 million in 2012."

So your contract with INERGI is going up, right?

MR. WINTERS:  According to this evidence, that is the way it appears.  When I speak to the cost reductions as it relates to the extended contract, there is a price decline.  In our distribution business, there would be -- I know there is an initial increase and then a decline as it relates to the customer service operation, but by and large over the 2010 to '15 period, it is a price decline to the base INERGI services.

MR. SHEPHERD:  On the distribution side, is it because of the new CIS, right?  That saves you money?

MR. WINTERS:  No.  Unrelated.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, okay.  So back to the PowerPoint that we were on, and on page 11, you say that -- and this is really important from an IT point of view, although maybe not as much from a regulatory point of view -- that you are focussing on implementation of commercial off-the-shelf applications.

Why is that important?  It is important, right?

MR. WINTERS:  Absolutely.  It is important.  It is important for a few reasons.

First and foremost is if you are using commercial off-the-shelf rather than custom solutions, custom solutions are very tough to maintain and they have a very limited upgrade path.

If we are part of a commercial off-the-shelf system implementation, we can take advantage of enhancements to those systems that are brought forth by a large user group that are -- include companies beyond Hydro One.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So could you move to the next page, page 12?

This graphic, if I understand it right, it shows the evolution of your main enterprise systems; is that right?

MR. WINTERS:  This graphic does show the scope and the progression of the Cornerstone project, which was a lot of our -- of course, is a lot of our enterprise applications, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Just for the interest of anybody who is looking ahead, I have no questions on pages 13, 14 and 15.

And when you look at them, you will be happy that I said that.

On page 12, you started with -- this process with a lot of different tools for different purposes, right?

MR. WINTERS:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And basically, what you had is you had sort of the best-in-class from somebody specialized in each area, right?

You had business intelligence from Cognos, and you had PeopleSoft, and the specific things that the specialists had produced in these areas, right?

MR. WINTERS:  We had, in essence, highly customized versions of those systems.  And in essence, they were not upgradeable anymore.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And so what you are doing step-by-step over four phases, it seems to me, is replacing everything with solutions provided by a single vendor, SAP; is that right?  Or almost everything?

MR. WINTERS:  Not necessarily.  We are in the public tendering process right now for our CIS.  So I won't speak to -- I won't go into much detail on that.  But it is not a foregone conclusion that it will be an SAP solution.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But pretty well everything else has either SAP or BW, which is an SAP product, right?

MR. WINTERS:  Business Objects is -- was acquired by SAP, so yes.  And we spoke earlier about the application rationalization strategy, so this is a component of that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  My note here says:  "All SAP all the time."  And that is sort of your philosophy right now, right?

MR. WINTERS:  No, not necessarily.  We will look at an existing system, and we will determine whether it needs to, A, stay where it is, get rationalized, and if it is to get rationalized, where it should go or how it should be replaced.

For example, GIS and mobile that we spoke of, those will not be rationalized into SAP.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Although you have projects in place to integrate them with your SAP system, right?

So you have other vendors and you then integrate them.  One of the things about SAP is you can do that, right?

MR. WINTERS:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So I have three questions about this choice of SAP.

First, it is true that standardizing with one vendor has tremendous integration advantages, right?

MR. WINTERS:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But it also has some risks, because you are depending on one vendor; true?

MR. WINTERS:  In what regard would you --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, whenever you have one system that you are relying on for a lot of things, if there is a problem with the vendor's products, you have a common cause problem, right?  Potentially?

MR. WINTERS:  It is a potential.  Though similar to our other core systems, we have mitigations in place, such as robust disaster recovery, software and escrow, and so forth.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, I confess I am not as close to this area as I used to be, but in the past when I was, I understood that SAP was the very best solution for a lot of these enterprise things, but it was also the most expensive.  Is that still true?

MR. WINTERS:  I wouldn't categorize it that way.

There are -- I think the software landscape is shrinking.  I think SAP is gaining much more market share, not just within utilities, but across industry.  And it is being chosen for its capabilities.  I --


MR. SHEPHERD:  It is the very best, right?  Generally, it is considered the very best for a big enterprise like yours?

MR. WINTERS:  I wouldn't categorize it as the very best.   Typically for any of these projects, we go to market with a set of business requirements, and we pick the product or the solution that best meets our business requirements.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.

MR. WINTERS:  In this case, it was SAP.

MR. SHEPHERD:  It is true that the new SAP applications are, generally speaking, more expensive than the solutions offered today by people like Cognos and PeopleSoft and that group, right?

MR. WINTERS:  PeopleSoft was acquired by Oracle.  So I wouldn't necessarily say that PeopleSoft would be less expensive than SAP.  I believe those two are -- any Oracle product would be sort of at par with an SAP product.

Now, if we are going to go with a best-of-breed boutique solution -- which would have its own risks or less stability from a company perspective, better chance of it going bankrupt or not remaining a going concern -- our upfront costs could be lower if it was a boutique solution.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  My third question about SAP is you have referred to these as commercial off-the-shelf solutions, but SAP is really more like an architecture, a framework, right?

Like, you don't just buy it and plug it in like Microsoft Word; you buy it and you get the system integrator with it, right?

MR. WINTERS:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And a lot of the cost is the system integrator taking that capability that is in the software and making it what you need; is that right?

MR. WINTERS:  Making it a which?

MR. SHEPHERD:  What you need.  Customizing it, in fact?

MR. WINTERS:  I would disagree with the word "customize".  Now, I may be splitting hairs here, but it but it is a configurable system, and there is a subtle difference there.  If you customize it, you are jumping into the source code, and in essence we would end up where we were with PeopleSoft and Passport, where it is not upgradeable.

With the way SAP is architected, it allows you to configure it to meet your business needs, and you use an integrator to help with that.  But the way you do that configuration is it keeps you on an upgrade path.

So when SAP and its user community comes out with enhancements, we will be able to implement that more easily and more readily than if it was a highly customized solution.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you pay more upfront, but you get this robust system that works really well and has a lot of people finding new ways to use it well?

MR. WINTERS:  I wouldn't necessarily agree that you pay more upfront.  You pay for -- you pay for what you get based on the market and the market prices at the time, but again, I would agree with the second part where you –-absolutely, you want to make sure that you keep it on an upgrade path.

MR. SHEPHERD:  SAP always had the reputation that every time you want to change anything, you have to call the system integrator, and it costs a lot of money.  Is that still true?

MR. WINTERS:  No.  That is not true.  We rely on our outsourcer for SAP application maintenance, and we rely on our internal groups to do business application support.

So for any minor enhancements to the system, our outsourcer has the capability of making those configuration changes within SAP.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Your system integrator is Capgemini?

MR. WINTERS:  The system integrator that we used for Cornerstone phase 1 and phase 2 was Accenture.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Accenture, so not related to INERGI?

MR. WINTERS:  No.  They would actually be a competitor to INERGI.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  All right.  The reason why I asked that is -- could you turn up Staff IR No. 52?

MR. WINTERS:  I am there.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And this says that you had an increase in the category called other incremental sustainment costs due to your SAP application support.

This is your management of the SAP system; is that right?

MR. WINTERS:  The other incremental sustainment, as we walked through, through C1-2-9, is the INERGI-related costs to maintain the application, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So you had an increase in that in 2009 and 2010; right?

MR. WINTERS:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But then you are expecting it to drop off in 2011, 2012?

MR. WINTERS:  We are expecting it to stay level in 2011 and '12.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That is not a temporary increase.  It is a permanent increase?

MR. WINTERS:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Is that because of your expectations as to how much you are going to need system integration services?

MR. WINTERS:  The application maintenance or application management costs are directly related to the INERGI costs and not to an external system integrator.

We expect them to level off because we have -- as you know, we have underwent the two major phases of Cornerstone, which is introducing SAP phase 1 and phase 2, and that was the big -- that was the big project and the introduction of the -- or the most dramatic change to the systems.

Now that we have that in place, any further enhancements or turning on other SAP modules won't have a step change in the maintenance costs.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Can you turn up Staff IR No. 45?  This is Exhibit I, tab 1, schedule 45, please.

MR. WINTERS:  I'm there.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And in this table 1 on the first page, if I read this right, the net 2011 benefit from Cornerstone in this application is 12.5 million, which is 70 percent of the overall 17.9 million for 2011, right, 12.5 million to transmission, 17.9 million total?  That is your current estimate; right?

MR. WINTERS:  The numbers are 12-1/2 of an overall 17.9, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And that net benefit is the total cost of the Cornerstone project, less the cost reductions elsewhere in the company from implementing this project; right?

MR. WINTERS:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And that is actually around somewhere.  You don't need to look for it.  There is a summary of that somewhere; right?

MR. WINTERS:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm sure I saw it.  I just couldn't find it last night.

It is actually capital and operating reductions; right?  You are not reducing your revenue requirement by 12.5 million.  You are reducing your spending by 12.5 million?

MR. WINTERS:  Let me give you an answer, and I will ask for Ms. Vines to maybe help me out in case I go too much into the finance realm.

What we have done within this rate filing is we have represented the expected benefit, in both capital and OM&A as a result of Cornerstone, as an overall reduction to our overall revenue requirement.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I didn't understand that, sorry.

MS. VINES:  I think your -- is your question whether the 12.5 represents both capital and OM&A changes?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.

MS. VINES:  Because this table speaks only to OM&A.  And, in fact, you will find the 12.5 that Mr. Winters referenced rolled up through the total OM&A, and then you can see the net OM&A amount in the revenue requirement in E-1-1.  So the 12.5 is a bottom-line reduction to OM&A requirements.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Well, that is interesting, because now I am looking at SEC - this is tab 7 - I-7-14.  SEC No. 14.

MR. WINTERS:  I'm there.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And on page 3, it says Cornerstone OM&A savings 10.3 million, and Cornerstone capital savings 7.5 million.

So I am trying to understand how -- the 10.3 presumably is the total for the whole enterprise.  How could you have 12.5 in transmission?

MR. WINTERS:  The way the savings are represented within this table, and as shown in the A1-14-1, are incremental savings.

If you were to look at the Cornerstone evidence, both OM&A and capital, the capital is D1-3-7.  That talks about the overall savings on a year-to-year basis as a result of Cornerstone implementation.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  But that wasn't what I was going after, anyway, so that is just an aside.

In your distribution application, you had a different estimate of the OM&A savings; right?  Still back on I-1-45, I am looking at your EB-2009-0096 forecast of net benefits from Cornerstone.  Do you see that?

MR. WINTERS:  One moment, please.  Are you referring to the -- in the EB-2009-0096, the 7.8?

MR. SHEPHERD:  I am actually looking at the 26.1.

MR. WINTERS:  Oh, right.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Which has now gone down to 17.9; right?

MR. WINTERS:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And the 18.3 for transmission has now gone down to 12.5; right?

MR. WINTERS:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So am I right in understanding that if your estimate - what is this, nine or ten months ago - in your distribution application was correct, your revenue requirement today in this application would be $5.8 million less; right?

MR. WINTERS:  I can help you with that.

We actually had to make a correction for the transmission filing, in that for the 2011 year we had represented savings as a result of Cornerstone phase 3, and those savings will not begin to be realized until 2012.

So we, in essence, had to shift when those savings -- we would start to see those savings one calendar year.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Do we have a chart like this for 2012, like this table here in I-1-45?  You presumably have something similar for 2012; right?

MR. WINTERS:  If I can walk you through D1-3-7, it does lay out the expected benefits of each phase, OM&A and capital, for 2011, 2012.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, that is really not quite what I am looking for.

What I am looking for is:  Did your estimate of savings for 2012 go -- for transmission go up by $5.8 million between now and the distribution application?

MS. VINES:  If I could just take that one, you won't find an equivalent table for 2012, because the distribution rate period was 2010 and 2011.  So you won't find an equivalent table.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So the impression I had -- I looked at Energy Probe No. 29.  This is I-2-29.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. Shepherd, I don't want to interfere in your cross-examination, but we have an immense amount of foundation.  I am expecting that there is -- that we are leading somewhere.

MR. SHEPHERD:  It is actually my last question in this area, Mr. Chairman.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.

MR. SHEPHERD:  This was all for argument later.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Do you have that, I-2-29?

MR. WINTERS:  I'm there.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And in this response, you talk about an increase in the sustainment cost and it being primarily under other incremental sustainment, and that the primary reason is higher than anticipated SAP sustainment costs.  Do you see that?

MR. WINTERS:  Yes, I do.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So I thought that was the reason why your net benefits were going down between the distribution application, so it is not.  That is additional?  That is an additional cost increase?

MR. WINTERS:  As you can see within C1-2-9, you will see how the cost is progressing in other IT sustainment, and as described here and compared with the last filing, those are the reasons, both third-party licence increases, as well as SAP.

The net benefit change from the distribution case is a result of us incorrectly putting in Cornerstone phase 3 benefits in 2011.  Unfortunately, the investments aren't even being made at the current time.

So we are under way.  There is no way we will be realizing benefit in 2011.  So they aren't mutually exclusive.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.  Mr. Chairman, I am now leaving IT entirely, so this may be a good time for a break.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.  We will adjourn until quarter after.

--- Recess taken at 11:03 a.m.

--- On resuming at 11:28 a.m.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you very much.  Please be seated.

Just before we begin again, Mr. Shepherd, the Board is aware that there are some discussions ongoing with respect to scheduling of matters over the next while.
Procedural Matters:

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  With respect to argument, it would be our inclination to have the applicant provide an oral argument shortly after the conclusion of the evidence.  I think that is -- that has been your preference, Mr. Rogers, in the past?

MR. ROGERS:  Yes, Mr. Sommerville.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  And we would think that that may happen the Tuesday following Thanksgiving.  And we would then make provision for written argument for intervenors to follow in a period to be determined, preceded a couple of days by Board Staff argument, to the extent that Board Staff wanted to provide context for issues, followed by intervenors' argument, and then an oral reply opportunity following that.  So that the reply from the applicant could be in an oral form, and there would also be an opportunity for the Panel to ask questions of all parties.

Does that architecture -- I will leave that with you to think about, and it is certainly not written in stone at this stage, but it is the way we're thinking may be most fruitful.

MR. ROGERS:  Very good.  Thank you very much.  Let me speak to my clients, but that sounds sensible to me, but let me talk to my clients, and I guess others as well.  Thank you.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.

And Ms. Grice, I understand that you have had some discussions and Mr. Crocker has had some discussions with Board Staff with respect to the timing of your panel on the so-called High 5 proposal.

And I don't want to nail anybody down on that at this stage --


MS. GRICE:  Right.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  -- but I understand that that is moving forward?

MS. LEA:  Yes.  Mr. Crocker has been leaving me messages and I have left him a message, and we'll keep going.

And then, Mr. Thompson, you also have a panel to follow the AMPCO panel; is that right?

MR. THOMPSON:  That's correct.

MS. LEA:  Thank you.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  And the long and the short of it is we would hope to have conclusion of the evidentiary portion by Thursday of next week, that all of the evidence should be signed, sealed and delivered at that point.  I think that is an achievable objective, given where we are now and where we expect to be.  We do have those days set aside.

There is also a realistic prospect that we can use the afternoon of October 6th for hearing this case, if that -- provided that is not jarringly inconvenient for everybody.

We will report back on that in due course.  Is there anything arising from that?

Mr. Thompson?

MR. THOMPSON:  Mr. Chairman, perhaps I could just express this now.  As you know, the OPG case starts on Monday, and a number of us here are going to be trying to juggle two major cases at the same time, and I just hope that that would perhaps lead to some elongation of time frames, because preparing argument in one matter and carrying the ball in another is going to be a very difficult challenge for some of us.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  The Board is sensitive to that, and -- or reasonably so.  So we will have a -- we do understand that the overlap with the OPG case does create some difficulties, but -- and we will accommodate those, to the extent reasonable.

MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Okay.  Mr. Shepherd?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Continued Cross-Examination by Mr. Shepherd:


MR. SHEPHERD:  Witnesses, I wonder if you could turn up Exhibit I, tab 1, schedule 54.  I am moving into a new area, the number of staff you have and your staff additions.

I take it this is you, Mr. Goldie?

MR. GOLDIE:  Yes, I am there.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thanks.  So this interrogatory response appears to say that your total number of employees is increasing over six years from 5,301 to 8,938, a total of 3,637 people, almost 70 percent; is that right?

MR. GOLDIE:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So on average, you are adding just a little over 600 people a year, right?

MR. GOLDIE:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Net?  You are losing some people too, so this is net, right?

MR. McDONELL:  If I could just make one small comment, these numbers reflect the total number of employees.  So that would be a combination of regular employees, as well as a significant number of them would be contingency employees.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, okay.  I am going to come to that in more detail, but let me just ask.  In the number of staff discussion, you have FTEs, year-end headcount, average headcount, et cetera.

What are these?  What do these refer to?  Are these year-end headcount?

MR. McDONELL:  This would be reflective of year-end headcount, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So if you had an FTE or an average headcount number for these years, it would be somewhat lower because you are adding those people during the year, right?

MR. McDONELL:  I think what you are going to really see is when you take a snapshot on December 31st, you are going to see a significant drop in the number of contingency employees, because we lay them off by the year-end.

The staff that we have hired, the regular staff that we have hired would be typically on payroll on December 31st.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So we were sort of relying on these numbers as being indicative, but you are saying that some significant number of these contingency employees are not going to be there for this snapshot?

MR. McDONELL:  That is correct.  When I say "contingency employees" I'm referring specifically to our PWU Hiring Hall.

Because of the seasonal nature of their work, we lay off a significant number of that staff mid-December.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  It appears from this that you are adding 592 people in 2007, 654 in 2008, 599 in 2009, so it is around 600 each year; is that fair?

MR. McDONELL:  Again, it would be a combination of regular and non-regular employees, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But then in 2010, this year, you are proposing to add almost 1,300 people.

Why is this year different from the other years?

MR. McDONELL:  I should probably make some clarification here, right at the get-go.  And I guess now the important pieces of information, these numbers reflect both our transmission and distribution side of our operations, because I think you heard many times, being the integrated company, we don't separate distribution and transmission.

But the numbers that you see here really originate from a VECC interrogatory, and some part of those numbers as well are going to be already approved headcount from our earlier distribution case that we had late last year.  But you have also heard and the evidence so far is that we had some projected work programs in our intended March filing that we deferred a fair bit of work, and ultimately we filed in May with our reduction in our work program, therefore a reduction in our revenue requirement.

What we did not do, though, we did not recast our revise our headcount numbers.  So these numbers are reflective of a higher work program that we are not doing from the March original.

It doesn't have anything to do with our revenue requirement, because the headcount does not drive our costs or our revenue requirement under this application.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So these numbers are detail from VECC 35, right?

MR. McDONELL:  That is correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I-4-35.  So should we assume, then, that I-4-35 is simply wrong, because it has headcount numbers and dollar numbers?

MR. McDONELL:  VECC 35?  Yes.  The numbers are going to be higher than what they ultimately will be, yes, the headcount numbers, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I spent, like, three hours yesterday working on this chart.

Is there an update of this somewhere?

MR. McDONELL:  No.  We don't have -- that's why we didn't update the interrogatory, because we do not have updated headcount numbers at this time.  We will be working on it over the fall, but I don't have any new numbers for you at the moment.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So in VECC 35, this three-page chart, it goes from 2006 to 2012; correct?

MR. McDONELL:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I take it the 2006 through 2009 are right?

MR. McDONELL:  Those are accurate, in the sense that they are actual numbers, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But then 2010, 2011 and 2012, are you saying none of those numbers are right?

MR. McDONELL:  What we have always said in the evidence -- and if you turn to the evidence, if I could just direct you there, at Exhibit C1, tab 3, schedule 2, page 9, the information really originates from this total compensation chart.

And we make the point that the numbers that you see here, there is not a direct tie to our revenue requirement under this application.  We are trying to illustrate directionally where wages, head count are going.  It is not a direct tie to our revenue requirement.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, I am a little taken aback.  Let me just -- in I-4-35, let me just ask you to look at 2010 here where it says total regular wages, 593.4 million.

Is that consistent with your application or not?

MR. McDONELL:  No.  As I just mentioned, the data -- the expanded table that you are now looking at --

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.

MR. McDONELL:  -- originates from the exhibit I just pointed you to, the consolidated total wages.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.

MR. McDONELL:  There is not a direct link between the total wages that you are seeing there and our revenue requirement, and this has been the case for many, many filings.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So I am looking at the interrogatory response on page 1, and it says -- with respect to attachment 1, it says:
"Refer to Attachment 1 which is an updated version of the EB-2008-0272 Exhibit..."


And then it says, and by the way:
"The Total Wages for 2010 found at Exhibit C1 Tab 3 Schedule 2 page 9 Table 3 should read $745.1 M and it has been updated in this Attachment."


But you are saying that regardless of that, this attachment simply doesn't relate to your rate application?

MR. McDONELL:  We had to make -- yes, that is correct.  As I said before, we have not revised the head count as a result of our original planning in March.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I am not asking you about the head count now.  I am asking you about the dollars.

These three pages are full of dollar figures.  None of those are right either?

MR. McDONELL:  Well, when you say "right", I mean, I keep going back to these dollar figures are not tied to our revenue requirements.  They're there to show directionally where we are headed.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm sorry, Mr. Chairman, I am really at a loss here.

I am going to ask you, sir, to undertake to provide us with a copy of this attachment 1 to Exhibit I, tab 4, schedule 35 that it is consistent with your application.

MR. McDONELL:  Perhaps maybe Ms. Vines might be able to jump in to talk a little bit about how we cost the work and how the compensation is part of the costing of the work.  That might help you a little bit.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, you know what --

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Let's see if the information is existing in another form.

MS. VINES:  Yes.  Let me see if I can help clarify what I think your concern is.  I think you were heading down the path of concern over the continued head count growth, and yet you have heard from previous panels that there has been significant shifting in the work.

MR. SHEPHERD:  No.

MS. VINES:  No, that is not your concern?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Nothing to do with what I am talking about.  Right now I am talking about your supporting evidence on your high amount of compensation, and your high number of people is not consistent with your application.

I would like evidence that is consistent with the application.

MS. VINES:  Okay.  I am going to refer that back to Mr. McDonell.  What I was going to say with respect to the head count chart that you started out with, though, we only update consolidated head count through our formal business planning process, which occurs on an annual basis, is currently under way.

What Mr. McDonell started to explain to you was that that head count table we started out with has not been updated since the 2010 through 2014 business planning period.

It does not reflect the change in deferral of the work which has, in fact, been costed in our application.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Are any of the head count figures in your evidence consistent with your application?  Any of them?

MR. McDONELL:  I am not sure what other head count figures you might be referring to.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I have a whole pile of interrogatories that have head count numbers of various types in them.

MR. McDONELL:  Perhaps maybe if you could refer me to...

Perhaps if you might refer me to a specific IR, I might be able to help you out.

MR. ROGERS:  Just while that is being done, Mr. Chairman, I think part of the problem here may be that these head count numbers have been a problem in all of these cases.  They're provided on a Hydro One Inc. basis, a consolidated basis, distribution and transmission.

And it is impossible to understand -- to segregate head counts between the two companies, because their people do both.  What they do is they cost the work and allocate the cost of the work that is done to distribution and transmission, and that is why these head counts are always so problematic.


Now, I think I have stated that correctly, but I hope that helps, and maybe the witnesses can clarify if I've got it wrong.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Chairman, it is no surprise, I am sure, to my friend that a key issue in this case is the fast ramp-up of the number of people at Hydro One, and I am sure everybody in the room is concerned about that.  And even we have heard the witnesses talking about the concern.

And I just want to know where I go to find out:  How fast are you actually ramping up?  Is that information somewhere?

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  With specific reference to the transmission business?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.

[Witness panel confers]


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  And I presume the associated dollar figures with that exercise?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Exactly.

[Witness panel confers]


MR. McDONELL:  Perhaps this might help a little bit.  We certainly are aware of some of the major hiring that we'll be doing over the next couple of years, in particular, into our apprenticeship trades and our new grads.  But as a result of the deferral of work that we made from the March to the May filing, we have not updated the associated impact on head count at this moment.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Help me understand.  You changed your OM&A budget and you changed your capital budget.  How did you do that if you didn't know how many people you needed?

MR. McDONELL:  Well, this is what I was hoping Ms. Vines could help you out here, because that is where we cost our work program.  We don't cost it based on the head count.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you have no idea right now how many people you are going to have this year?

You have to hire them.  Haven't you done a plan for how many you are going to hire?

MR. McDONELL:  As I said, for our significant hiring in our apprentices and the new grads, yes, we do, where we do the bulk of our hiring.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But you don't have a goal where you are going to end up?

MR. McDONELL:  In the area of -- and I think there was a response to an interrogatory.  They asked us how many apprentices we will be hiring in 2011, 2012.  We do have a response for that.

We know how many new grads we will be hiring for next year.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Chairman, I am going to ask for the undertaking I asked for, which is this table, that is consistent with this application.  And I understand that my friend may well say, No, we can't give it to you, but I have to ask for it, because then in argument I can say they had a chance to bolster their application and they chose not to.

MR. ROGERS:  Well, let me take it under advisement.  I believe it can't be done, but let me see whether -- if it can't be done, I will provide at least a better explanation than I have been able to do on the record here.  If it can't be done, maybe there is some other way the information can be provided in a useful form.

I won't refuse outright.  I will do my best to answer it, but I don't believe we can answer it in the way Mr. Shepherd asked it.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I wonder if we could have a clear statement as to exactly what it is that you are looking for, Mr. Shepherd, and then, Mr. Rogers, you can be informed by that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  Mr. Chairman, what I am looking for here is the table that is attachment 1 to Exhibit I, tab 4, schedule 35, updated so that the numbers are consistent with this application.

Now, I understand this is for the whole organization, and that's fine.  But there is a whole organization chart like this that is consistent with what they expect to spend in transmission this year, what they're asking you for your authorization for.

This goes to 2011 and 2012, which of course is the -- are the critical years.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Chair, if I could just...

Mr. Shepherd, if the -- the response I heard to date is that the project costing is done on a project-by-project basis.  So underpinning or within those project costs are human resource costs, the actual tapping into that human resource.

So when you say "consistent with the application" if someone were to back out the FTEs associated with each one of those projects, which is in the application, and provide you with that, is that the table?  Is that how you would populate that table?

MR. SHEPHERD:  No, because then we wouldn't be able to compare it to the previous years.

The whole point of this is to be able to see what is happening relative to previous years, and what we're seeing is a 70 percent increase in their number of people.

If that is not true -- and I actually needed to know that before I prepared this cross, not today -- but if that is not true, then certainly the Board needs to know that.

MR. QUESNELLE:  What I am trying to understand is how when you say "consistent with the application" if in previous applications have not been developed that way, in the way you are asking now, how do you get the comparison?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, I guess what I am trying to avoid is the situation where Mr. Rogers comes back and says:  We can't do it because we can't separate transmission and distribution.  So I am saying:  Fine, give us both together.

That's good, but you can't say to us that you don't know how many people you are going to have.  That's not a credible statement from a company of this size.

In fact, if they do say it, great, that is good for final argument, but I don't think they can.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.

MR. ROGERS:  I do believe that the company will be able to provide an estimate of the number of people they have on a consolidated basis, if that is what Mr. Shepherd is looking for.  So we will -- if that is what is required, I think that can be done.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I think it is the dollar figure associated with that allocation, as well, that is -- that is of interest, if not to Mr. Shepherd, then to the Board.

MR. ROGERS:  All right.  I will see what can be done along that line too, sir.  Thank you.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I should add, Mr. Chairman, that many of my questions in this area are about the differences between regular and casual and temporary, because they have different costs and risks associated with them.

I need that level of granularity to go into those things, and there is a lot of dollars involved.

MS. HELT:  That will be Undertaking J5.1.
UNDERTAKING NO. J5.1:  to PROVIDE an UPDATE TO ATTACHMENT 1 TO EXHIBIT I, TAB 4, SCHEDULE 35, CONSISTENT WITH THIS APPLICATION.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, so I will turn to another area, then, since -- and my cross will be shorter.

I wonder if you could turn to School Energy Coalition No. 5, which is I-7-5.

Do you have that?

MR. McDONELL:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.  And if you look at question (e), this asks you for a chart from 2006 through 2012 that breaks down, for each major job category, new hires, retirements and departures other than retirement for each of those years.  Do you see that?

MR. McDONELL:  I see that on page 3, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  No.  I am asking whether you see the question, first, on page 1.

MR. McDONELL:  Yes, I have that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So then on page 3, you have the first of two charts.  This is the PWU categories, right?

MR. McDONELL:  That is correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And by my calculations, this shows that in those four years in these categories -- this isn't all of your PWU people, right?

MR. McDONELL:  Certainly not.

MR. SHEPHERD:  In these categories, you hired 401 people in those four years, but only 129 retired; is that right?  Roughly?

MR. McDONELL:  Subject to check.  I haven't done the math.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Then you had 60 people who left for other reasons, so you had a net increase in these categories alone of 222 people, right?

MR. McDONELL:  Over the period 2006 to 2009?  That's what you're referring to?

MR. SHEPHERD:  And so now you didn't include in this

-- we asked you to give us six years, and you gave us only the three years of actual --


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Just so that we are clear, the witness asked a question.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, sorry.

MR. McDONELL:  I think you gave me the number of hires and retirements, and I just simply asked was that between 2006 and 2009?  I think the answer is yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes, yes.  From this chart, right?

MR. McDONELL:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  This chart is only 2006 to 2009, yes.

So you didn't include 2010 to 2012.  We asked you for six years, you only gave us three, and the reason is you don't know for 2006 –- for 2010 to 2012, right?

MR. McDONELL:  2010 to 2012, we would have directed you to the VECC interrogatory.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Indeed.  Indeed.

So you actually -- you actually directed us to the VECC interrogatory, which doesn't have any of that information.  It has only final headcount, right?

MR. McDONELL:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And that information, in any case, is wrong, right?

MR. McDONELL:  It has not been updated; that's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  But then you also said -- where is it?

You also said look at Exhibit I, tab 2, schedule 21, for retirement information.  So that is Energy Probe No. 21.  So we looked for it.

We are looking for retirements for each of 2010, '11, and '12.  And I couldn't find that.  Can you show me where it is?

MR. McDONELL:  We did not break it down by those five categories.  We directed you to some overall projected retirement numbers.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So this is -- this 310 number that you have expected to retire, this is for 2010, '11 and '12?

MR. McDONELL:  2011 and 2012 only.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You don't have 2010 here?

MR. McDONELL:  For 2010, I can tell you -- 2010, I can give you some updated information, if that is helpful.  For the first half of this year, we have seen 80 employees retire.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That is across the organization?

MR. McDONELL:  That is correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So Mr. Rogers is fond of saying that we should ask these questions in the interrogatories, and I guess I am wondering why didn't you answer the interrogatory the way we asked it.  You had the information.  Why didn't you give us the information we asked for?

MR. McDONELL:  Well, now that I look at it, it might have been an oversight.  I apologize for that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  You do, in fact, have sufficient information that you could give us these tables, the PWU and Society tables on pages 3 and 4, for the full six years, right?  You do have forecasts?

MR. McDONELL:  Yes, we would have that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So I wonder if you could undertake to give us these two tables as originally requested for the period 2006 to 2002.  These are the tables on pages 3 and 4 of I-7-5.

MR. ROGERS:  Yes.

MS. HELT:  Undertaking J5.2.
UNDERTAKING NO. J5.2:  to PROVIDE PWU AND SOCIETY TABLES FROM EXHIBIT I, TAB 7, SCHEDULE 5 AS ORIGINALLY REQUESTED.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, let's go back to this PWU page.  And this doesn't include any apprentices, right?

MR. McDONELL:  That is correct.  It does not include apprentices.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you have all of these new hires, the 401 new hires in these six job categories, but your main hiring strategy is not that at all, right?  It is apprentices?  For these types of jobs, you are mainly targeting apprentices, right?

MR. McDONELL:  For the last three on the right-hand side, the regional maintainer classifications, those would be our trades apprentices.

The other three, the distribution technician, controller and P&C technician, they aren't considered to be a trade per se, but they would have a significant training program, length and time.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I want to move to an aside for a second.

You filed Exhibit J4.7 today, which was a request we asked for the other day.  It is an undertaking with respect to comparing wage levels.

MR. McDONELL:  That is correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Do you have that, 4.7?  You filed it today, I think; right?

And you compare your position of powerline maintainer to these various other people in various other organizations, but then you note at the bottom that you have a multi-skilled position called a regional maintainer lines that is paid more than anybody on this chart -- well, no, anybody but one, and that includes additional duties, et cetera, et cetera.

You have apprentices in that category?

MR. McDONELL:  The apprentices that we hire through our PWU hiring hall, they go under an apprenticeship program that leads to, in the lines trade, a powerline technician certificate after four years.

After a further two years, when they join our regular workforce, they receive additional training where they then advance to a regional maintainer lines.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So actually most of the people who are maintaining your lines, for example, are not powerline maintainers.  They're regional maintainers; right?

MR. McDONELL:  We would have a mixture of regional maintainer lines, and, as well, through the PWU hiring hall, we would hire a powerline maintainer.

MR. SHEPHERD:  In your regular staff, what is the ratio of regional maintainer lines to powerline maintainer?

MR. McDONELL:  Certainly in the regular staff, we would have -- the vast majority of our staff would be regional maintainers, not the powerline maintainer.

The reason we showed the powerline maintainer, because that is a valid comparison against the maintainers -- sorry, the powerline technicians in the LDCs that you see there.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But they don't have a regional maintainer category, most of them; right?

MR. McDONELL:  I don't believe they do.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So the person who is doing the jobs that they are -- senior powerline technician or journeymen linemen do in your organization is called a regional maintainer lines; right?

MR. McDONELL:  Say that again for me?

MR. SHEPHERD:  The person in your organization that is doing the job at Manitoba Hydro that is a powerline journeyman or at Quebec Hydro is a -- I can't even say it, and at London Hydro is powerline maintainer, the person in your organization who is doing that is called a regional maintainer lines; right?

MR. McDONELL:  That is correct.  But in an LDC, you are going to have other staff who will perform some of the higher-rated skills that we have added to our powerline technician job, for instance, lead hand, with is a supervisory duty, contract monitoring.

What you are going to see in LDCs is typically a management person would be performing those extra duties that we have put into our regional maintainer classification.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So the fact is that this comparison that you have, it is actually a little bit misleading, isn't it?

MR. McDONELL:  No, I don't think it is misleading at all.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You don't use powerline maintainers except through the hiring hall.  Your real staff are regional maintainers?

MR. McDONELL:  When we are being compared to other organizations and people say our line staff are paid too much, if you do an apples-to-apples comparison, you are comparing a powerline maintainer versus the powerline technicians that are used at LDCs.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you are saying because your people who do this job are better and better trained, it is not a fair comparison to the people who do the same job in the LDCs?

MR. McDONELL:  It is more than better and better trained.

They are doing additional duties that you don't see in an LDC, and where those duties are being performed, they're typically going to be performed by a higher-rated classification not in the bargaining unit.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Let me come back to I-7-5, if you don't mind.

And so in these three years -- four years, sorry, VECC 35 says you added a total of 445 PWU regular staff -- sorry, hang on -- yes, in those years.

MR. McDONELL:  Okay.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And this says that the net for these categories is 222.  So am I right in assuming that is about half of all of your PWU people?

MR. McDONELL:  Those five classifications?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.

MR. McDONELL:  No.  I believe that represents about a third of our workforce.

MR. SHEPHERD:  A third?

MR. McDONELL:  Just one moment, please.

[Witness panel confers]

MR. McDONELL:  I believe it is one-third.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So then the 400 hires in these categories, can we translate that into 1,200 hires overall for PWU?

MR. McDONELL:  I don't believe so.

MR. SHEPHERD:  We don't have that information anywhere --


MR. McDONELL:  No.

MR. SHEPHERD:  -- as to how many you have actually hired as compared to retired and left for other reasons; right?  You just have these categories; that's all?

MR. McDONELL:  Okay.  We are looking at these specific five classifications right now?  I just missed the -- I missed your question here.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  I am trying to understand what the totals are for PWU category, the total category.

MR. McDONELL:  Total category?

MR. SHEPHERD:  I am trying to extrapolate them from this, but it looks like I can't, because there is no rule of thumb I can use.

MR. McDONELL:  Can't you go to the VECC interrogatory and look at the difference between 2006 and 2008, and you will see how many new regular PWU employees we have hired?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes, that will tell me the net, but it won't tell me the amount of hires and the amount of retirements and the amount of --


MR. McDONELL:  That is correct, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That is not anywhere in the evidence, as far as you know?

MR. McDONELL:  As far as I know, no.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So you also added in this same period - this is still the past period now - 590 people in what you call the casual category.  I got that from VECC 35.  Is that apprentices?

MR. McDONELL:  No.  The casual category could be the PWU hiring hall.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.

MR. McDONELL:  And a subset of that could be apprentices within the PWU hiring hall, as well as our casual construction employees.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So in VECC 35 you have -- without worrying about the specific numbers for now - we will get to those later - these are year-end numbers; right?

MR. McDONELL:  That is correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So your construction numbers will be pretty low for the casual category, right, generally?

MR. McDONELL:  The construction would be low, as well as some of the PWU hiring hall, yes, because they, too, would be laid off.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you have -- at the end of 2006, you had 1,121 casual.  And I think I read somewhere that you had -- of that, about 600 were apprentices.  Is that right, or am I right in the right range?

MR. McDONELL:  In today's population, we have about 690 apprentices today, 2010.

MR. SHEPHERD:  It would be somewhat lower than that in 2006?

MR. McDONELL:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You had 1,121 casual; that's hiring hall.  Basically casual means hiring hall?

MR. McDONELL:  No.  As mentioned before, casual could be a combination of the PWU hiring hall --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, that's right.

MR. McDONELL:  It is a little, yes.  The apprentices that also come through the PWU hiring hall - they're not on regular staff - as well as casual construction employees.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So the bulk of it is through the hiring hall, at least in these year end numbers?

MR. McDONELL:  Yes, I would agree with that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And so you went from 1,121 to, at the end of 2009 -- these are all actuals; right?  So these numbers are right?

MR. McDONELL:  That is actual, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You went to 1,711.  So that is a 590-person increase, and presumably that is not a construction trades increase.  That is more apprentices and people like that?

MR. McDONELL:  It's going to be both, because you have -- you know, over the period 2006 to 2009, we have had a significant increase in our overall work program.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  But I thought you said these are year end figures and so those people are all laid off at the year end, the construction people.

MR. McDONELL:  I don't think I said they are all laid off. I said many of them are laid off.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  I wonder if you could turn to -- keep VECC 35 handy.

MR. McDONELL:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I may refer to it, but I wonder if you could turn to SEC IR number 5, which we were on, and look to attachment 5. Do you have that?

MR. McDONELL:  SEC schedule 5, attachment 5?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  It is headed up:  "Hydro One Inc. submission to the human resources and public policy committee of the board of directors."

MR. McDONELL:  I have that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you were asked to provide -- let me just find it here -- the most recent report to the board or any committee of the board with respect to the –- and this is a quote from your evidence -- "enormous human resource challenge referred to."

And this is that report, right?

MR. McDONELL:  That is correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And Mr. Goldie, this has your name on it?

MR. GOLDIE:  Yes, it does.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So I assume that this is your report?  You actually gave this report?

MR. GOLDIE:  Yes, I did.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And this was to a meeting of the board in August of 2009, right?

MR. GOLDIE:  Yes.  It was to the human resources subcommittee of the board.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  And the way that works is you make a report to the subcommittee, and then the subcommittee, in turn, makes a report to the board, and you sometimes go to the board meeting as well, right?

MR. GOLDIE:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  But the subcommittee that deals with this issue, the human resources committee, meets on a more regular basis, monthly or something?

MR. GOLDIE:  That's correct.  It meets on a more regular basis, probably once every two months.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So I am looking at the first page of this document, and it says -- I am quoting -- this is your report, right?

MR. GOLDIE:  Yes, it is.

MR. SHEPHERD:  This is your report.  So you say in this report:

"The board continues to be concerned over Hydro One staffing strategy."

Then you go on to talk specifically about the various concerns they have.

So my first question is:  Have you been present at board meetings where the board of directors has expressed these concerns directly to you?

MR. GOLDIE:  No.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But you have been at meetings of the committee where these concerns have been expressed to you?

MR. GOLDIE:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And so one of the things that they say they're concerned about is lower than anticipated retirement rates.

Can you help me out with what they mean by that?

MR. GOLDIE:  That's correct.  The board was concerned that given the level of staffing that we were doing in anticipation of people retiring, that the number of retirements that they had anticipated would take place had not taken place yet.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, so it is not what you had told them to anticipate?  It is what they had assumed would happen?

MR. GOLDIE:  It is a combination.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So further down on this page, the memo, -- it's, again, your memo, so your words – says:

"This subject has been a topic of discussion at most HR and PP meetings."

So let me just stop there.  That is this committee, right?  HR and PP?

MR. GOLDIE:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So that committee has discussed this issue, this particular issue, these particular concerns, numerous times between 2008 and today?

MR. GOLDIE:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And it looks to me -- and tell me whether this is a fair characterization -- it looks to me like your board of directors is saying:  You know, you keep telling us there is going to be all of retirements, and we don't see them.  Where are they?

Is that a fair characterization of what they're saying?

MR. GOLDIE:  That is part of what they're saying.  They're saying:  We haven't seen all of the retirements take place that you – myself -- have anticipated.

And what they're also saying is:  We are concerned about the level of hiring that is going on to replace people who are not leaving when we think they're leaving.  When I think they're leaving.

But this memo is intended to show them that because of the flexibility we have in our staffing program, that need not be a concern to them.

Let me give you an example.  As --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Hang on.  Before you get to that, I am going to come to that subject.

MR. ROGERS:  Excuse me, Mr. Chairman.  I think the witness, with respect, should be allowed to answer the question.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I think that's fair.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Fine.

MR. GOLDIE:  As Mr. McDonell has said, our apprentices, which are a very large number of the staff that we hire, are not regular employees.

They're hired through the hiring hall.  They're paid less than existing employees.  They're not on the benefits program.  They're not on the pension program.

We hire those people in anticipation of line maintainers leaving the organization.  If line maintainers do not leave the organization in the numbers that we think they're going to leave in, those people remain in the hiring hall.  If there is no work for those people in the hiring hall, they're laid off at no cost to the organization.

What this memo is trying to explain is the fact that those people will only become a regular employee once those people who are retiring leave.  If those people do not leave, they will remain in that classification or be laid off.

So what we're trying to show is that our flexible workforce helps mitigate the risks of staff not retiring as had been anticipated.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  I am going to come to the flexibility of the workforce in a minute.

MR. GOLDIE:  Okay.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But I want to just focus on the other side of it for a second, because you have been telling them now since at least 2008 -- and probably before then -- that you have a big problem coming with an aging workforce, right?

MR. GOLDIE:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And they have been saying:  Okay, go out and hire, go out and hire, right?  They have been giving you authority to do that?

MR. GOLDIE:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And then when the retirements aren't happening the way that you said they were going to, they're saying:  Hang on a second.  We told you to hire all of these people, and now it doesn't look like we needed them.

MR. GOLDIE:  No.  No, no.  That is not what they're saying.

What they're saying is:  We told you to hire those people.  The retirements have not occurred as quickly as we thought they were going to.  Please explain to us what the mitigation strategy is for that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, and they're also saying:  Slow down, right?  Don't --


MR. GOLDIE:  They're asking if we should slow down, and what we're saying to them, there is a couple of things.

First on retirements, whether they go in the year we thought they were going to go, or a couple of years after that, they're still going to go.

The fact that retirements have slowed down does not mean that we are not still faced with a very large loss of staff over the next few years.

So what we have in place is a program which will allow us to stockpile resources and move them into those positions when they become vacant, with no greater risk whether the people go this year or next year, because they're in a temporary classification where we use them if we need them.  If we don't need them, we can lay them off at no cost.

So they haven't said:  They're not going.  Stop hiring.  We are in trouble.

What they have said is:  Explain to us again how a deferral of retirements is not a major problem for the organization.

That is what this memo was intended to do, and in fact was successful in doing.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I am going to come back to that in a second, but I guess the thing I don't understand is you have, what, almost 700 apprentices working right now, right?

MR. GOLDIE:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But if all of these people didn't retire, then how are you saving the money on those apprentices if they're working?  You are paying them, right?

MR. GOLDIE:  Yes.  Those people are doing real work at the present time.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But why do they need to do the work if those people didn't retire in the first place?

MR. GOLDIE:  Well, our –- well, there is two answers to that.

Our hiring hall is set up for overflow work, so work that our regular employees don't do will be done by our temporary workforce.

So that is part of it.  So that work is real work.

In addition to that, it takes a number of years to make somebody a fully qualified journeyperson at Hydro One.

As Mr. McDonell has said, four years of training to become a line maintainer or -- and then to become composite trade is another two years.

So we have to hire well in advance of when people are retiring.  Because we are not hiring them as regular employees, as we did at one time, where you would have a situation just as you described, where you've got 700 people and the work may not be there for them, we changed our approach to hiring and hire them as temporary employees who are totally flexible, that if the work isn't there and it seems like you are not going to have people retiring down the road, you can lay them off.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But the fact is, isn't it, that you are not laying off your apprentices, because you have to teach them?  If you don't teach them, you are not going to have them when you need them in your years --


MR. GOLDIE:  Well, that, as I mentioned, that is part of it.  There is two aspects of this, and this is why this area is so complicated, which is why the board wanted a memo on it to explain it to them.

You have to hire apprentices in advance of people retiring, as any other organization does.

In the finance area, you bring in students who are working on their CA.  In a legal situation, you are bringing in lawyers, articling students and so on.

You have to bring them in in advance, and give them the background to be able to get there.  That is part of it.

But in addition to that, many of these apprentices and journeypersons in the hiring hall, they're doing real work.  If they weren't doing real work, we wouldn't keep them around.

MR. SHEPHERD:  The committee actually directed you to do this report; right?

MR. GOLDIE:  They requested it, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  And the essence of it was they weren't -- they were getting nervous about your conclusions as to how many people you needed and whether you were taking too big a risk, and they said, Look it, give us some more background data and information that shows that we're still okay; right?

MR. GOLDIE:  What they were -- I wouldn't characterize it as them being nervous.  They were saying, explain -- Give us the rationale that goes with people potentially delaying their retirements.  Explain to us how that is not a risk to the organization.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So then on the next page of this, you have the now familiar table of employees eligible for retirement.  This is a cumulative table; right?  These are cumulative numbers each year?

MR. GOLDIE:  Yes.  Sorry, which page are you on?  Page 3?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Page 2 of the document.

MR. GOLDIE:  Okay, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  It says "Cumulative Retirements by Jurisdiction".  It says "retirements", but that is not true, is it?  It is actually eligible for retirement?

MR. GOLDIE:  Yes, I believe that is eligible.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Because you didn't get 1,000 people retiring in 2009?

MR. GOLDIE:  No, that's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So, in fact, you don't expect this many people to retire in any of these years; right?

MR. GOLDIE:  We would be surprised if all of them went.

However, the issue - and this is something that the board was very keen on - what that chart describes is a potential liability to the organization.

In theory, all of those people could go at those times shown.  So in 2014, 1,900 of our regular staff of 5,000 is eligible to go, which is 38 percent.

And the organization and myself, in particular, are required to have a plan in place to be able to deal with that, because it is a liability.

Whether or not they all go is one thing, but we have to have a plan in place to be able to accommodate that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You have 1,000 eligible for retirement in 2009 on this table -- 1,050, it looks like.

MR. GOLDIE:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And how many did you actually have in 2009, retirements?

MR. McDONELL:  How many retirements?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.

MR. McDONELL:  Just one moment.  The number of retirements in 2009 was 106.

MR. SHEPHERD:  106.

MR. McDONELL:  Sorry, that is -- that was November the 20th.  I did get that updated, and, if memory serves me right, it is 111 actually; 111.

MR. SHEPHERD:  111.  Now, this table is not net of the people who have actually gone, is it?

So you don't say, Okay, now in 2014 we will have 1,900 eligible to retire on our current math, but some of them will have already retired by then.  This is the gross number; right?

MR. GOLDIE:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You would actually expect that really the number will be 13 or 1,400 at that time, right, in that range?

MR. GOLDIE:  Well, I guess that's surmising, as you are doing, that there is only going to be 100 retiring each year over the next five years.

I mean, part of the issue here is that if there is 1,000 people eligible to retire this year and only 100 go, each year that those people continue on with the organization, there is a greater likelihood they're going to go.  And they have to go eventually.

So if they defer it this year, it builds up the demand for them to go in following years, and that is part of the issue that we've got.

If I can just give some national data through the Electricity Sector Council, of which I am the chair, we have been predicting for a number of years very high losses through retirement in all of the utilities across Canada.

We were -- in terms of being able to prepare for that, the industry was fortunate, with the economic downturn, that a number of people didn't go, which allowed organizations, who did not have apprentice programs in place such as Hydro One, to be able to get them in place and get ready for that loss of staff.

Those numbers have started to pick up, and our numbers show that our retirements have started to pick up.  They are accelerating.

So I would anticipate that, as each year goes by, we will have a higher percentage retiring than we do at the present time, and we have to be ready for that.  We are not like other industries who can simply bring people in and give them some orientation.

We have very long training periods, between four and six years, to be able to develop our staff.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So do you have back data of your total eligible for retirements in previous years; that is, at the end of each year, how many you had eligible for retirement for the last ten years, let's say?

I mean, you're talking about a trend.  So, presumably, if you know the trend, you know what the past data is; right?

MR. GOLDIE:  Yes.  I don't know if we have it handy.  We would certainly be able to get it.

When I'm talking about a trend, we're talking about 2008, 2009 and 2010 in terms of what's happened during the recession.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, you're talking about a slowing of the trend in 2008, 2009, 2010; right?

MR. GOLDIE:  I was talking of a slowing of the trend in 2008 and 2009 and an increase in the trend in 2010 and beyond.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Although I have to say you had 111 retirements last year and you have 80 so far this year.  That doesn't sound like much of a trend to me.

MR. GOLDIE:  Well, that 80 I believe was --


MR. McDONELL:  That 80 is a half a year, so if that trend continues --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, okay.  So you are higher by now?

MR. McDONELL:  That's right.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.

So what I would like to see, I would like to see the trend - that is, that the long-term trend - that shows that your retirements -- your eligible for retirement is increasing and has been over some long enough period that we can see it is going to continue.  Can you give us that?

Let's say the eligible for retirement at the end of the year for the last ten years.  This is something you must have; right?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. GOLDIE:  We could probably go back to 2004 for that.  And just to be clear on what you are asking for, if you look at that chart on page 2, are you really looking for that from 2004 to 2008, because this does show the cumulative impact from 2009 and beyond?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, but that is exactly the point, Mr. Goldie, is that if you had 1,000 eligible for retirement every year for the last ten years, then I don't see a trend there.  It just means that some of your eligible for retirement retire every year.  That is not a big deal.

If you had 200 eligible for retirement ten years ago and now you have 1,000, then you've got a growing problem and I get it.  You see what I am saying?

MR. GOLDIE:  Not really.  It seems to me that between now and 2014, like, we have to start hiring now to replace staff who are going to retire in 2014 or 2016, because of the length of time it takes to develop our programs.

We have shown by these numbers that we're going to lose -- could potentially lose 40 percent of our workforce over the next five years.

That is the point that this chart is trying to make, and that we've got to be hiring now and developing people for that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Except that your own words are that you've been saying this for years.  You have been showing people this chart for years and telling them that the sky is going to fall, and it hasn't yet.  And your board is concerned about it; right?

MR. GOLDIE:  No.  What we have been telling them, when you say "years", we have been telling them for two years or three years, 2007 -- or 2008, 2009 and 2010, we have an extremely large liability.  It is well known and well documented within the electricity sector that there is a problem with pending retirements.

We are at the front end of the wave, given all of industry across Canada.  That is well documented, and that if we don't do something to deal with it, we're going to be in a very serious shortage of skills.

So we're not predicting that the sky is falling.  We are predicting that organizations have to do something to take care of this liability, and it would be inappropriate for us not to do that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Chairman, I am going to come back to this after the break, but I wonder if that is a good time for you for you to have lunch.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  How much time do you --


MR. SHEPHERD:  About 30 minutes.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  About 30 minutes?  I am inclined to want to continue, if that is not inconvenient for the panel or the reporter, so that you could conclude.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Let's do that.  We will continue to one o'clock and conclude Mr. Shepherd's cross-examination.  Is that okay with the panel?  Thank you.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And of course that means I really have to do it in 30 minutes; right?

[Laughter]

MR. SHEPHERD:  I understood the subtext, Mr. Chairman.

Okay, Mr. Goldie, can you go to the next page of this board report, because this is -- this figure 2 is a different way of looking at the retirement problem; right?

MR. GOLDIE:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And so the first --


MS. HELT:  Mr. Shepherd, if I may just interrupt, was that an undertaking that you had asked for?  Or was that -- was the answer --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, yes.  I did.

MS. HELT:  It was an undertaking?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.

MS. HELT:  So that --


MR. ROGERS:  Well, no, it wasn't.  I thought -- I thought the witness explained it to Mr. Shepherd's satisfaction and that an undertaking wasn't necessary.

MR. SHEPHERD:  No.  I asked him whether he could provide the year-end eligible for retirement under rule of 82 for a back period, say from 2004 you say you can provide, right?  But I did neglect to ask for the undertaking, so I ask for it now.

Thank you.

MR. ROGERS:  Well, all right.  Rather than argue about it, I will agree.

MS. HELT:  Undertaking J5.3.
UNDERTAKING NO. J5.3:  to PROVIDE RETROACTIVE TO 2004 RESPECTIVE NUMBERS OF EMPLOYEES FROM THE THREE CATEGORIES ELIGIBLE TO RETIRE.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  So that is to provide back to 2004 the respective numbers of employees from the three categories that were eligible to retire?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  Basically, Mr. Chairman, it would be figure 1, back to 2004.

So then let me go to figure 2.  So this is "Cumulative retirements by jurisdiction, 35 years of service."

Again, this is not retirements.  This is eligible for retirements?

MR. GOLDIE:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And so you have -- the rule of 82 is when they're first eligible for retirement, right?

MR. GOLDIE:  First eligible for non-discounted retirement; that's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Then 35 years of service, they stop contributing to the pension plan.  They're like almost fully vested, as it were.

MR. GOLDIE:  They maximize their pension at that point in time; that's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  When you say "maximize", so it is higher at 35 than it is at rule of 82?

MR. GOLDIE:  Yes.  Because they get -- they get two percent per year of service to a maximum of 35 years, which is 70 percent of their high three average.

So that's when they maximize their pension.  That's why this is significant, because at that point in time most people are very strongly considering going, if they're still there.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So the term "undiscounted pension" doesn't mean full pension?

MR. GOLDIE:  No.  All it means is there is no discount to the earned pension.  So if somebody had 30 years of service, rule of 82 and 30 years, the 30 times 2 percent would be 60 percent.

That is not discounted.  That is fully earned.  But they can't earn any more than the 70 percent.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Ah.

MR. GOLDIE:  So this is very significant as a retirement monitor.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Excellent.  I didn't know that.

So this eligible for retirement on 35 years' service, these are much lower numbers, right?

MR. GOLDIE:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You have 150 in 2009, and about 750 or 756, I guess, in 2014.

This is -- in the "PWU" category, it looks like you have about 100 per year that reach 35 years over this period?

I am just eyeballing it.  It looks like that is about right.

MR. GOLDIE:  Roughly, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And right now you have about 3,500 PWU members on regular staff, in that range?

MR. GOLDIE:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Doesn't that work out to 35 years each?

MR. GOLDIE:  Sorry, I didn't follow the question.

MR. SHEPHERD:  If you have 100 retiring every year on a regular basis out of 3,500, that means that in general your people are reaching 35 on a regular basis, right?

They're 35 years' service.  That is the math that should work, right?

MR. McDONELL:  When you -- you said 100, I am not sure if you are going back to what I said a couple of minutes ago, where we had 111 people retire.

MR. SHEPHERD:  No.  I am asking:  This forecast of how many are eligible is 100 per year, right?

You are saying you have an aging demographic.  I would have expected that out of your 3,500, a lot more than 100 would be reaching 35 years if you -- they were on average older than the median.

But what it appears is that it is 100 every year, which means they're probably dead on the median; isn't that right?  In a steady -- let me ask the question a different way.

In a steady-state situation, you go 35 years, and you have 3,500 employees, 100 retire every year, you replace them every year, a steady state, right?  No problems?

MR. McDONELL:  Okay.

MR. SHEPHERD:  This looks like it is describing a steady state, 100 a year for 3,500 employees.

MR. McDONELL:  I'm still lost.  I am not sure where you are getting that 100 employees per year who are retiring.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I asked Mr. Goldie.  You have -- PWU you have about 100 a year reaching retirement age, right?

MR. GOLDIE:  We have 100 a year, according to this chart, reaching 35 years of service.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Mm-hmm.

MR. GOLIDE:  That's correct.  But I am a bit confused when you say it is a steady state or it is a median.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  I will leave that.  I thought it was -- I thought it was something that would be easy to explain.

It says here that -- let me just ask you a little detail on this -- it says here:  "In 2014, 756 total of 5,035 regular employees."

Where does the figure of 5,035 regular employees come from?

MR. GOLDIE:  That would be...

[Witness panel confers.]

MR. McDONELL:  The 5,035 regular employees, if you go back to that VECC table that we've talked about now, where we have actual headcount?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sure.

MR. McDONELL:  You will see in 2009 we have 5,086.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So where it says in 2014, 756 of 5,035, that is 5,035 in 2009, not 2014?

MR. McDONELL:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That is what confused me.  All right.   I get it.

Can you take a look at Energy Probe IR 41?  It is I-2-41.

MR. McDONELL:  I have it.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So it says here in (d):

"Caution should be used when relying on historical trends, since within the trades classifications..."

That is PWU, right?

MR. McDONELL:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  "...more staff are reaching 35 years
each progressive year."

So can you reconcile that with this chart you gave your board, that seems to say 100 a year?  Help me with that.

MR. GOLDIE:  Well, I think when it says more "reaching 35 each progressive year" each year you have more people in it.  This year you have 100.  Next year you have 200.  The following year you have 300, 400, 500.

There are more people who are reaching the level at which we think they're going to go each year.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry.  This says:

"...more staff are reaching 35 years each progressive year."

MR. GOLDIE:  Yes.  There is more --


MR. SHEPHERD:  That is not true, is it?

MR. GOLDIE:  There is more next year than there will be this year.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But what you told your board was it is going to be 100 each year?

MR. GOLDIE:  And what I told them in -- next year there is going to be 200, and the following year there is going to be 300.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I think what the witness is -- if I can help, Mr. Goldie -- I think what the witness is getting at is that it is a cumulative number.

MR. GOLDIE:  Yes.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  That you have a block of people who on year 1 reach 35 years of service.  Then in the next year, you have that bunch of people, those who have not chosen to retire, added to the 100 that have now reached the 35-year level.

So it is a cumulative number.  Is that right, Mr. Goldie?

MR. GOLDIE:  That's correct.  And the reason that that is important is if you have 100 people who are at 35 years, that is a risk to the organization, because they're not accumulating any pension benefit past that time.

If you have 500 people who are there, it is an even greater risk to the organization.

That is why those numbers are very important.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, the problem I have, Mr. Chairman and the reason why I was raising it is because I am looking at an interrogatory response in which they're writing to the parties and the Board, and they say:

"...more staff are reaching 35 years each progressive year."

That is not true.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I think it is a semantic -- perhaps inconsistency might be putting it a little strongly, but I think the clarification is that when they were referring to the board and the board graph, they were describing that number.

And when they used the words "more staff are reaching" that plateau, their language was perhaps not as precise as it might have been.

I think that is the explanation.  Is that right, Mr. Goldie?

MR. GOLDIE:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I understand, Mr. Chairman.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Rather than belabour the point, I think that is where it is.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Let me go back to this figure 2 and your report to the board committee.

Is this like figure 1 where it is a gross figure?  It doesn't include the actual retirements factored into it?

MR. GOLDIE:  Yes, it is.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So if you had 100 retire every year, then in fact the same number are reaching 35 every year; isn't that right?

MR. GOLDIE:  If you had 100 retire each year, that would be correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Let me then move to -- this report has an attachment, attachment 1, this attachment that is titled "The demand and supply of Hydro One Labour as discussed in the November 28th board memo".

So this attachment is a previous document?

MR. GOLDIE:  It was as discussed in November of 2008, so it is a summary of a discussion from November 2008.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, when was this document created?

MR. GOLDIE:  I believe it was created as part of the board memo for 2009, based on a discussion which had occurred in 2008.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, okay.  So that is not exactly correct, is it?  Here on the page 1 of the August 11, 2009 document, you say, I quote:
"It has been addressed formally through a series of HR&PP Board Memos, the most recent one in November, 2008.  A copy of the bulk of that memo is included as Attachment 1."


So this is the November 2008 document, isn't it?

MR. GOLDIE:  Well, it is based on the discussion which took place; that's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So is this another semantic problem here?  Is this the November 2008 memo or not?

MR. GOLDIE:  And I don't believe it is.  It is a summary of what happened at the meeting.

If you go back to the comment that you just referred to -- I'm sorry, where is it:
"A copy of the bulk of that memo is included as Attachment 1."

So it's the bulk of it, but there had been some changes to it.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you edited the previous document; is that fair?

MR. GOLDIE:  And made some updates to it.  I am not aware of the changes, because I don't have the other one with me.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  So on the first page of that report, it says your growth in employees over the nine years, 2004 to 2013, is 1,946 employees.  Do you see that?

MR. GOLDIE:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So that information is as of November 2008?

MR. GOLDIE:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And you say part of it has been dealt with.  So you only have 540 regular employees left to add between 2008 and 2013; right?

MR. GOLDIE:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So now that is again November 2008; right?

MR. GOLDIE:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But now you are reporting to the board in August 2009.  You haven't updated those numbers; right?

MR. GOLDIE:  No.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  But the VECC document says - and I now take it that that is wrong - that the increase from 2008 to 20 -- from 2004 to 2008 was 1,446 employees.  No, sorry.  That's wrong.  I am confused.

MR. ROGERS:  Well, you are not alone there.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So, sorry, the VECC document says that from 2008 to 2012 - it doesn't even go to 2013 - you are adding 1,592 employees, not 540.  Can you help me with that?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. McDONELL:  If I understand your question correctly, I think you are trying to draw:  Why is there a big difference between the 540 and the larger number you see in the VECC interrogatory; is that correct?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes, yes.

MR. McDONELL:  The reason for that is because this number of 540 would be based on an earlier business plan for the 2009-13 business period, and that would have been a period of time before a lot of the green energy work was coming on stream --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well --


MR. McDONELL:  -- coming to be potential projects.

MR. SHEPHERD:  In November 2008, you knew it was coming; right?

MR. McDONELL:  It is not part of that 540.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And, in fact, when you did this report to your board in August of 2009, you had already added more than half of those 540; right?  So you already knew it was wrong?

MR. McDONELL:  What period of time are you talking about?

MR. SHEPHERD:  From -- in August 2009 when you reported -- when you gave this report to your board, you had already added more than half of the 540 employees that you said you would be adding until 2013?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. GOLDIE:  The report that was put together in November of 2008 is dealing with a specific issue of the supply and the demand of labour, and these were the best numbers that we had available at that time in November of 2008.  And the point we were trying to get across is there's going to be a significant demand for labour, and there is going to be a reduced supply of labour.

So we did not update the numbers for the memo that it precedes, which was August of 2009.  That wasn't the specific issue that we were dealing with.

We were dealing with the need to recognize there was a growing demand and a reduced supply.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But here's the reason why I ask this.  In your August 2009 memo, you were asked to explain your strategy, and presumably by then they knew what your new strategy was; right?  Like, they knew there were new numbers, right, new dollars, new head count?

MR. GOLDIE:  But the new numbers didn't reflect on the new strategy.  The strategy has always been the same, to recognize that there is a pending retirement issue in the industry and at Hydro One specifically.  There is the need for a very long lead time to get people hired to be able to go in and take over those jobs seamlessly, and that there is a need to be able to do that without increasing costs and having people sitting around the organization who aren't going to be doing any work.  We had strategies in place to deal with all three of those.

What this memo is intended to do was outline that once again for the human resource committee of the board.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, so here's my problem with that, is that you just said earlier that your primary strategy for dealing with that is flexibility in your workforce.  Don't have so many regular staff.  Hire from the casual and from temporary, et cetera; right?

MR. GOLDIE:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That is your primary strategy?

MR. GOLDIE:  That's our primary strategy.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You didn't tell them that you had a forecast you were going to increase your regular staff by another 1,000, three times as much as you planned?  You didn't tell them that in the same time you were telling them flexibility was your strategy?

MR. GOLDIE:  But the strategic part of flexibility is we have employees ready to take over those regular positions as needed.  We don't hire them as regulars in anticipation of filling other regular positions.  We hire them as temporaries and keep them that way, and can remove them from the workforce and from the cost to the company literally that day that we realize the work load is not there.

That is the flexible part of the strategy.  The issue on how many we were going to need is a separate issue.  That is not what we were trying to get across in this board memo.  We were trying to explain to them how we had a process in place which allows us to be ready to fill very highly skilled, highly trained positions immediately, but at the same time not have those people become ongoing costs to the organization.

That's what that memo was about.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And, in fact, you told your board committee - if I can find the reference - at page 5, and I am quoting here:
"At the present time, non-regular staff comprise 40 percent of the workforce at Hydro One."


MR. GOLDIE:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But I've seen other places where you say -- for example, Energy Probe No. 40, I-2-40, where you say 30 percent is the optimal number.  And, in fact, in your November report you say that 30 percent is your actual trades number.

MR. McDONELL:  I think -- I think we're talking about something different here.

The 30 percent ratio is what we have found to be a good mix of trades staff that we resource from the PWU Hiring Hall.

This reference to 40 percent is overall, company-wide use of temporary resources.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, that's interesting, because then if we go to VECC 35, VECC 35 has a table, and I am looking at what the percentage of non-regular is to the total.

And I get, end of 2009, this is the closest to August 2009, 28.7 percent, and in the previous years, similar numbers.

So where is the 40 percent?

MR. McDONELL:  Okay.  What you are doing there is you're looking at numbers at year-end, and I have mentioned, I think a couple of times now, we do lay off a number of casual employees by year-end.

I can tell you as early as the end of July of this year, the ratio is about 39 percent of our non-regular workforce.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Because in the summertime, you have another 1,000 people or so that are working in -- or 500, anyway, that you have --


MR. McDONELL:  Summer, we have a very seasonal operation, and it makes sense that we would have a higher non-regular workforce during the summer months.

MR. GOLDIE:  If I may also take you back to the chart that is shown on -- I'm sorry, where did the memo go there?  My memo?

MR. McDONELL:  Oh...

MR. GOLDIE:  If I can also take you to the chart that -- as shown there, which shows a breakdown, on page 5.  Page 5.

And I mean, this is what the -- this particular memo was really about.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry.  Let me just stop you for a second.  I have to stop you, because you're talking about table 1?

MR. GOLDIE:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, mine is blacked out so...

MR. GOLDIE:  Yes.  But the number at the bottom shows 42 percent flexible workforce as a percentage of total workforce.  That is what this memo was all about.

The point that we were trying to get across to the board is if you look at our regular staff, and then you look at the ease or the cost of reduction of that staff, we've shown the number of ways we've got regular staff working 40 hours a week, or 35.  We've got overtime hours.  We've got hiring hall.  We've got apprentices in the hall.  We have casual construction, temporary, co-op, summer students, all of whom are working on our work program.

What this shows is outside of our regular staff, those other costs or FTEs, which add up to 42 percent of the workforce, can be eliminated literally immediately, with no cost involved in it.

This is what we mean by a flexible workforce, that if somebody were to cut our budget by 40 percent today, we would be able to adjust the workforce very, very quickly with no cost associated with it.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.

MR. GOLDIE:  So that is where the 40 percent comes from, as well.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Let me turn to my last area of questions, and that is rates of pay.

So I am going to take you back for a second to J4.7, which Mr. Faye asked you some questions on on Friday about comparing to LDCs.  And you gave him the same explanation you gave today, which is your people can't be fairly compared to the LDCs, right?

MR. GOLDIE:  Sorry, my people?

MR. SHEPHERD:  You're people can't fairly be compared to the LDCs, because they don't do the same –- I mean, they do many of the same jobs, but they're not trained the same way.  They really –- they have a different skill set, right?

MR. GOLDIE:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And so -- and you said furthermore, one of the things that is happening is take a look at the size of the wage increases in the other parts of the sector, right?  PowerStream and Ottawa, et cetera; you gave examples, right?

MR. GOLDIE:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You said so maybe you are not so bad after all.  That is the -- that's the underlying premise?

MR. GOLDIE:  No, that is not the underlying premise.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So what is it?

MR. GOLDIE:  The underlying premise is that wage rates are a legacy issue with Hydro One, that we are working to change that legacy and our best to reduce the total costs associated with labour.

It is a very long, slow process.  It doesn't happen overnight.  It happens over a long period of time.

I was putting forward that the percentage increases in what the bargaining unit looks at as comparables is a disadvantage to the organization.  They look at that and say:  That's what we want.

I'm not saying ours are fine.  I'm saying that ours are very difficult to bring down relative to what is going on in the comparable market.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And you talked about the fact that your employees look at other utilities -- OPG and Bruce Power primarily, but also other ones -- to see what they're getting, because they want the same, right?

MR. GOLDIE:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Or better, if they can, but certainly they don't want to drag behind, right?

MR. GOLDIE:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But of course, it could be the other way around, right?  That if your wage levels are already high, aren't the employees at other companies looking at your employees and saying:  Wait a second.  Why am I not making that much money?

MR. GOLDIE:  Well, as I explained earlier, in the industry -- and especially from the collective bargaining point of view -- there is a bit of a hierarchy, and others look at Hydro One, OPG, Bruce Power and say:  If they're getting three percent, we want three percent.  If they're getting two percent, we want two percent.

They would certainly like more than that, but they realize that that is the way that the market has been arranged.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, so you've heard, haven't you, from other LDCs in the province that your high wage rates are a problem for them in competing for staff?  Isn't that right?

MR. GOLDIE:  Have I heard that?  I have occasionally heard that.  I wouldn't say it is a predominant view, but I have heard that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And the reason is because if you have high wage rates, that tends to push up the market rate, right?  In the minds of the employees, because they're all looking at each other, right?

MR. GOLDIE:  Yes.  I would say that some employees would look at us and say:  If it is being pulled up, we want it pulled up as well.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So it is fair to say, then, that if your wage rates stay high, then that continues to apply upper pressure for everybody in the market?  It is not just a problem for you; it is for everybody?

MR. GOLDIE:  Yes, that is true.  However, I would say that you've got a whipsaw effect going on within the market, and that's the difficulty we've got and that's what I've been trying to explain, that as everybody is getting three percent, for an example, it becomes very difficult to break that cycle.

I talked earlier today about how difficult that was, that arbitrators support that cycle.

We have tried the work stoppage route in 2005, and I won't belabour that because I know the Board has heard it before, but I think this is an excellent example, where we as an employer were trying to make changes that would impact on employees no longer -- that had not started yet with the company.

We wanted a new compensation scheme, we wanted a new benefits scheme and we wanted a new pension scheme.

Nothing which would affect existing employees.

We negotiated.  We came to an impasse.  The bargaining unit struck.  The bargaining unit was out for 18 weeks.  There was no reason to go to arbitration to bring them back.  There was no threat to the system.  There was no threat to public safety.

But the government requested that we go to arbitration.  It was arbitrated by a very seasoned arbitrator, who was Chair of the Ontario Labour Relations Board at the time, and in his wisdom decided that we would get a new pension, which would reduce compensation by 25 percent, but we would not get the new benefits plan or the new compensation plan.

That was after an 18-week work stoppage, where there was no impact on the public.  So it is very, very -- and a three percent – a three percent, 2.5, 2.5 -- or sorry, three percent wage increase at that time.

So it is very difficult to break that trend.  That is the point that I am trying to get across.  We've tried.  We haven't been successful yet.  We will keep trying on that, but it is very, very difficult.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So one of your themes in this cost-of-employees discussion is that the only time you can make changes to compensation for unionized employees is when you negotiate their collective agreement, right?

MR. GOLDIE:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And so you've got a PWU agreement coming up next spring, right?

MR. GOLDIE:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I am not going to ask you your negotiating strategy, don't worry.  But I am going to ask you this.

It sounded to me like you were saying you basically don't have any choice.  You can't get a decrease.  You have to give them pretty well what they want, at least for the current people, because otherwise they will strike and everything will be very bad.  Because there is no other solution; is that --


MR. GOLDIE:  Well, I'm sorry if that is what you interpreted, because I don't think that is exactly what I said.

What I said was going into bargaining, it is very tough to get a reduction in wages, an actual reduction.  In fact, in my view it is impossible in the environment that we're in at this second in time to expect you are going to get a reduction in base wages.

We are going to go in.  We are going to bargain.  We are expecting there will be trade-offs, as there has always been.  I mentioned a number of times we filed evidence showing that, out of all of the successor companies, we are the ones who do the best in terms of putting a drag on compensation.

We've also got trade-offs from the bargaining agents, which have reduced our costs, and we will continue to do that going into the future bargaining.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Stephenson asked you about the options available to this Board in this proceeding.

If this Board, just hypothetically, took a hard line and said, We're not going to let you keep overpaying your people and we are going to have a significant disallowance -- which Board Panels have done already, right -- would that have an effect of applying downward pressure on the settled result with the PWU?

I am not saying get a decrease.  I am saying:  Would it be downward pressure?

MR. GOLDIE:  In my view, no.  I don't believe it would be.

It would put pressure on the organization.  It would certainly be something that we would raise in bargaining very significantly, but I don't believe it would impact on the requests.  They would expect the organization to find other means of deal with that.

Some of our other means may be reduced staff numbers because we can't afford them.  It may be reduced work program.

I do not believe it would have a significant impact on the requests in bargaining.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Well, my final few questions, then, deal with the last time you were in this situation with the Society.  And the deal you have with the Society now is reported in Energy Probe 45, right, I-2-45?

MR. GOLDIE:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  If I understand what has happened here is basically that -- you have done three things.  You've reduced the minimums for some of the categories; right?

MR. GOLDIE:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So that is the entry level amount?

MR. GOLDIE:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And you've generally either kept the 100 percent level at the same or within 2 or 3 percent; yes?

MR. GOLDIE:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And you've removed the 115 percent.  It's gone?

MR. GOLDIE:  Correct.  Anything between 100 and 115 is gone; that's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That's right.  So now the highest somebody can reach in the categories, in most of them, is generally significantly lower than the previous maximum?

MR. GOLDIE:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And so your feeling is, over time, that is going to help you; right?

MR. GOLDIE:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Just let me ask you here, the first two schedules on -- the pages are marked 50 and 36, but they're one right after the other.

MR. GOLDIE:  Right.

MR. SHEPHERD:  The first one has job classifications MP1 to MP6 and the second one doesn't have MHP1.  Has that gone now?

MR. McDONELL:  That is correct.  We don't have MHP1.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So that was the lowest paid of the job classifications.  You got rid of that?

MR. McDONELL:  It was a classification -- I don't even believe we ever had anybody in that classification, at least not while we've been Hydro One.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So then can you look at School Energy Coalition No. 14, I-7-14, not the attachment that you were looking at before, but the actual response itself, I think.

This is 14.  Sorry, not 5.  Fourteen, do you have that?

MR. McDONELL:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And so what you've said is that -- I am looking for the quote.  It appears to have disappeared.

What you said is a number of employees were already above the 100 percent level and have been grandfathered; right?

MR. McDONELL:  That is correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So then I want you to turn to BOMA 15, which is -- just a second.  I will give you the reference if I can find it.  I-6-15.

MR. McDONELL:  I have that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And there on the second page you say that out of the 1,329 Society employees at that time, 514 are at the terminal step.  514 means that they're at -- "terminal step" means they're at 115 percent?

MR. McDONELL:  No, it doesn't.  514 means that they're either at step 9 or they're part of that grandfather group of employees that were above step 9 when we introduced the new wage schedules.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So here's what I didn't understand about that.  I am -- my understanding is that if you do the math, everybody you had on staff at the end of 2006, who is now still with you three years later, is grandfathered at above 100 percent pay grade; is that right?

MR. McDONELL:  Those employees, at that time when we introduced new wage schedules, if they were above step 9, as we call it now, they were grandfathered, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But the way I look at it, that means everybody on staff at that time.

MR. McDONELL:  No.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  You had 687 regular Society employees at the end of 2006; right?  Sorry, I was trying to shorten it.

MR. McDONELL:  Right.  So they would have been a range of all throughout the wage schedule, some of them above step 9, some of them below step nine.  Those who are above step 9 are grandfathered.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But you have lost 118 of those Society employees to retirements and terminations since then; right?

MR. McDONELL:  Where do you see that figure?

MR. SHEPHERD:  That is in SEC 5, where we were talking about the retirements and terminations.

MR. McDONELL:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So that gives you about 550 of those people are left, and you have 514 over 100 percent and grandfathered.

MR. McDONELL:  Okay.  But some of those employees, as of 2010, have now made it to step 9, and that also includes the residual people that were grandfathered.  So that 514 is a combination of both.

MR. SHEPHERD:  My problem is that the only people who aren't grandfathered and who aren't above 100 percent -- the only people who aren't above 100 percent are people you hired since 2006; right?  Everybody else is at the 100 percent pay grade or higher; is that true?

MR. McDONELL:  I don't believe so.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So I am going to ask you to undertake to tell us how many of the people that you had at the end of 2006 are not currently above 100 percent of the pay grade.

MR. McDONELL:  Okay.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That is my questions, Mr. Chairman.

MS. HELT:  J5.4.
UNDERTAKING NO. J5.4: TO PROVIDE NUMBER of PEOPLE AT END OF 2006 WHO ARE NOT CURRENTLY ABOVE 100 PERCENT OF PAY GRADE.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. Rogers, do you have any...

MR. ROGERS:  Well, that sounds like it could be done, so, yes.
Procedural Matters:


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.  Thank you.

It would appear -- I had the impression that we may be able to get to panel 4 today, although that depends on how long cross-examination is going to be for the remainder of the intervenors.  Can I get some idea?  Mr. Aiken?

MR. AIKEN:  Five minutes.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Several multiples of that, between half an hour and an hour.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Okay.  Mr. Warren?

MR. WARREN:  Ten minutes.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. Thompson?

MR. THOMPSON:  Half an hour.

MS. HELT:  And Board Staff has about a half an hour, at most.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  It looks like we may not get to panel 4.  We will break at 4:30 today, so you can govern yourself accordingly, Mr. Rogers, as to how short the leash is for panel 4.

MR. ROGERS:  Yes.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  We will break until 2:10.  Thank you.

--- Luncheon recess taken at 1:09 p.m.

--- On resuming at 2:24 p.m.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you very much.  Please be seated.

Just before we begin, there is -- I can indicate that the Board can sit on Wednesday from 9:30 through to 4:30, our usual hearing day, but there will be a requirement for a -- probably a longer than usual break around the lunch hour to accommodate Board business that the Members of the Panel have to --


MR. QUESNELLE:  A week Wednesday.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I beg your pardon.  October the 6th.  October the 6th.  So you can put that in our calendars and that is some time we can use.

MR. ROGERS:  Thank you very much.  Before we begin, may I just -- I have been instructed that this morning when I filed -- or when I announced that Exhibit J3.4 was filed, it contained a spreadsheet with some protected cells.

The requested spreadsheet that was filed electronically earlier today included partially-protected cells.

Hydro One has filed two new spreadsheets corresponding to the data used in attachment 1 and 2 of I-1-122, in an unprotected format.  Thank you.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Is there anything arising from any of that?  Mr. Warren?
Cross-Examination by Mr. Warren:

MR. WARREN:  Panel, I have just a very few questions for you, and let me begin with what I hope are some self-evident exchanges.

I take it, panel, we can agree that Hydro One Networks would be aware of Board decisions dealing with both transmission and distribution; is that correct?

MR. GOLDIE:  Yes, we are.

MR. WARREN:  And can I take it, panel, that Hydro One Networks would take the Board's guidance and direction in those decisions seriously and would act on them?  Is that correct?

MR. GOLDIE:  Yes, it is.

MR. WARREN:  Panel, do you have a copy of the Board's Decision with Reasons dated April 9th, 2010 in the distribution rate case, EB-2009-0096?

MR. GOLDIE:  We are checking.

MR. WARREN:  Thanks.

MR. GOLDIE:  Yes, we have a copy of the binder.

MR. WARREN:  Can I ask you to turn up, please, page 11 of that Decision?

Panel, I am going to read, in the succeeding eight or nine or ten pages, selected passages from that.  And I am going to ask you if I have read them accurately.

Do you have page 11 to begin?

MR. GOLDIE:  Yes, we do.

MR. WARREN:  Under the heading "Board findings" it says at the beginning:

"The Board finds that Hydro One's OM&A budget is excessive.  Inflation and cost-escalation factors are now lower than originally forecast and therefore the budgets are now overstated on that measure.  Second, and more importantly, the various trend measures demonstrate that Hydro One has had limited success in controlling expenditure increases."

Have I read that correctly?

MR. GOLDIE:  Yes.

MR. WARREN:  Over on page 12, third full paragraph:

"In the Board's view, given Hydro One's capabilities and its complexity, it would not be appropriate to micromanage the utility's operations through a line-by-line authorization of spending.  Rather, the Board should set an overall envelope and leave the specific allocation of the available funds to Hydro One's judgment and prioritization.  On the following two sections of this Decision, the Board will provide its observations and findings with respect to compensation and vegetation management.  The company should take the Board's guidance on these subjects into account in arriving at its prioritization."

Have I read that correctly?

MR. GOLDIE:  Yes.

MR. WARREN:  Okay.  Can I take you, then, over to page 18, dealing with the issue of compensation?

On the first full paragraph, it is talking about a comparable reduction, which is a comparable reduction to the preceding transmission case.  The Board says, and I quote:

"The Board concludes that a comparable reduction is warranted for the distribution business.  Hydro One has shown (for the categories presented) that it has controlled wage escalation better than some other Ontario Hydro successor companies.  However, compensation costs remain excessive in comparison to market indicators.  The evidence indicates that Hydro One's main competition for labour comes from within Ontario, and the Board regulates most of those other entities.  It would be unacceptable for the Board to, in effect, fuel that wage competition by incorporating ever-rising wage levels (over and above market-related levels) into rates.  Hydro One has indicated that a reduction of $9 million would be comparable to the Board's finding in the transmission case.  The Board has already established an overall OM&A envelope and will not order this as a specific reduction.  However, the Board would observe that compensation costs, including growth in headcount, are one of the areas in which Hydro One must take further action to control expenditure increases."

Have I read that correctly?

MR. GOLDIE:  Yes, you have.

MR. WARREN:  Okay.  Now, I am wondering, sir, that Decision with Reasons was issued on April 9, 2010, and can you tell the Board what measures or what steps Hydro One transmission has taken to incorporate the Board's, if you wish, direction or its cautions -- those are my words, not the Board's -- into effect in coming up with this budget that is now before the Board for approval?

MS. VINES:  Perhaps I can help you with that.

You've seen in an exhibit in response to -- I believe it was CME 1-3-1, we filed a memo to the Board on May 13th which discussed changes within the application.

Further to that memo, there was a Board interrogatory, I-138, which asked for the changes specific to the OM&A budget that was made in both '11 and '12, and we provided a detailed response to that within that IR.

MR. WARREN:  My question, panel, is when the Board comes to look at what I will call the minister's -- minister-directed reductions, by which I mean the responses to the minister's letter of May 5, are the reductions that were made in response to the minister's letter the same as the ones that you claim were made in response to the Board's Decision?

MS. VINES:  No.  I don't believe that would be the case.  We would have looked at the Board's decision, started to make changes in that direction, which would have been reflected in the application we were about to file in March.  Subsequent to the shareholder asking us to revisit that, then there were a further set of reductions, and those are the ones that are specified in I-138.

MR. WARREN:  Let me just understand the chronology.  As I have understood your answer that you have just given me, you were starting to make reductions in your budget in response to ministerial direction in March; is that correct?

MS. VINES:  No.  Not in response to ministerial direction.  In response to -- sorry.  Not in response to ministerial direction, but in response to concerns with respect to the rate impact, and to look at taking whatever action we could to mitigate that impact.

The ministerial direction or request to review was subsequent to that.

MR. WARREN:  Okay.  The minister's direction came out on May 5th, which would have been shortly before this – sorry, within a month of this Decision being issued.

So the first tranche of cuts made in March, it is your position that they were made in response to a concern about the overall rate impact of your application; is that correct?

MS. VINES:  I believe that's correct, yes.

MR. WARREN:  Then you made -- is it your position you made a second tranche of cuts in response to the Board's Decision dated April 9, 2009 in the distribution case?  Is that correct?

MS. VINES:  Yes.  With respect to shared services, it was evident that the impact of the distribution decision would have to be flowed through to the transmission side, as well.

MR. WARREN:  And is it your position that you made a third set of cuts, a third tranche of cuts, in response to the minister's letter of May 5?

MS. VINES:  I believe -- and Mr. Gregg went into this testimony at length on panel 1 -- but I believe the May 5 letter was a formalization, if you would like, of the work that had been done to date to try to mitigate the impact.

MR. WARREN:  So there was not a further -- there wasn't a third tranche of cuts specifically in response to the minister's letter; is that correct?

MS. VINES:  Not to my knowledge, no.

MR. WARREN:  All right.  Two other areas, briefly.

If you could turn up your exhibit, prefiled evidence C1, tab 2, schedule 7?

MS. VINES:  I'm sorry, what was that reference?

MR. WARREN:  C1, tab 2, schedule 7.

MS. VINES:  Okay.  I have that.

MR. WARREN:  And the page I am looking at is specifically page 13.

Beginning at line 10 or thereabouts, there are -- you are discussing $5 million in corporate communications costs in 2011-2012 that are required to support the green energy initiatives.  Do you see that?

MS. VINES:  Yes, I see that.

MR. WARREN:  And if I understand it correctly, that number is roughly $5 million in each of 2011 and 2012; is that correct?  It is actually $4.9 million, but rounding it up?

MS. VINES:  I believe that $4.9 million exists in 2012 revenue requirement, only.

MR. WARREN:  Now, in light of the projects which -- for development costs of which have been put on hold, are these corporate communication expenditures still required?

MS. VINES:  Yes.  And I believe this goes to a question that Mr. Gregg took last week, which spoke to the need for these costs, and although they are to some extent related to green, they were characterized in IR -- I believe it was 1-1-104, that these costs were, to some extent, indirect green costs in that they weren't specific to one of the schedule A projects currently on hold; that they were, in fact, in support of coordination efforts associated with green, in general, but not specific to any one project.

MR. WARREN:  Can I ask you to take a look at the text I have just referred you to, C1, tab 2, schedule 7?  And we've got, at line 14, one of the itemization of one of the heads of expenditures within the $5 million, preparation of risk assessments related to project development phases of green energy projects.

Since you stopped the project development phases of some of the green energy projects, can you not reduce some of the $5 million?

MS. VINES:  I would have to defer to Mr. Gregg.  This is part of his organization, and when that question was put to him, he thought that these costs would be substantially the same.

MR. WARREN:  And are these costs to be recovered in the rate years, or are they going into a deferral account?

MR. ROGERS:  Can I interrupt here?  One of the undertakings we have under consideration is an explanation of what is being requested in the green energy plan in this rate case, and I have an answer for that, but I am not ready to give it to you just right now.  I was proposing to do that at the conclusion of this panel and before the next, which I think will answer that question.

MR. WARREN:  Thank you very much.  Those are my questions.  Thank you.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you, Mr. Warren.  Mr. Thompson.

MR. WARREN:  Excuse me, Mr. Chairman.  I wonder if I might be excused to deal with some fires at the office.  Thank you.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Thompson:


MR. THOMPSON:  Yes, thank you, Mr. Chairman.  Panel, I represent the Canadian Manufacturers & Exporters.  My name is Peter Thompson.

I have a few questions, and they're along the lines of questions that I posed to previous panels.  Generally speaking, we are interested in the extent to which Hydro One's management, as well as its directors, considered consumer impacts in the planning process.

You folks, I understand, are responsible for planning with respect to OM&A and capital with respect to shared services, compensation and staffing.  Have I got that straight?

MR. GOLDIE:  Yes, you do.

MR. THOMPSON:  Thanks.  Now, the evidence to date indicates that the initial stage in the planning process, in terms of output, is something that happens around June 2009, the presentation to the board of directors of the five-year business plan, and we have documents in the record pertaining to that stage in the process.  The confidential document is marked KX1.2.

Would I be correct to assume that insofar as shared services are concerned, you folks would have input into that process?

MR. GOLDIE:  Yes, we would.

MR. THOMPSON:  I see.  And would anybody on the panel be involved in presenting to the board of directors in June of 2009?

MS. VINES:  I don't believe anyone on this panel would be.  Mr. Struthers on the next panel would be.

MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you.  Now, in terms of, then, the planning, though, that you folks did for the purposes of the business plan that was presented to the directors in June, can you tell us what specific information or guidance that you people were given with respect to consumer impacts before you started your work?

MS. VINES:  One moment, please.

[Witness panel confers]

MR. GOLDIE:  I think the specifics of your question are best answered by panel 4.  Mr. Struthers would have been involved in that.

I think as a generality, though, in our business planning process and general instructions, consumers are always a big issue.  We are always looking at reducing costs.  That's what the business planning process is all about.

But in terms of specifics, I think that Mr. Struthers would be able to answer that question.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Well, can I take it from that that as far as specifics were concerned, there was nothing specific given to you people to influence your planning?

MR. GOLDIE:  I don't recall anything specific being provided to us, but, as I say, Mr. Struthers would be able to confirm that.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Now, the next stage, as I understand it is, once the business plan -- the five-year business plan is approved, then there is some further work that is done that leads up to the -- a November presentation to the board of directors that has a budget for 2010 and an outlook for 2011 and 2012?  Am I correct there?

MR. GOLDIE:  Yes, that would be correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  And the document, confidential document, in the record dealing with that presentation is KX1.4, and there is also a -- sorry, KX1.3, and there is also a redacted version of that document in the public record.

And my same question of you folks here is:  Were any of you involved in the presentation to the board of directors in November of 2009?

MS. VINES:  I was not involved.

MR. GOLDIE:  I was not involved.

MR. WINTERS:  Nor I.

MR. McDONELL:  Me neither.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  And, once again, in connection with the work done between June and November, was anything specific provided to you people, in terms of your work, dealing with consumer impacts that you recall?

MR. GOLDIE:  Not that I recall.  And, again, I think Mr. Struthers would be able to confirm that.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  The next stage in the process was, we understand, an update to the 2010 budget and the 2011-2012 outlook that was presented to the board of directors in February of 2010, and the confidential exhibit with respect to that stage in the process is Exhibit KX1.4.

Are you folks aware of that?

MR. GOLDIE:  Yes, we are.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  And, once again, did any of you on the panel present to the board of directors in February of 2010?

MR. GOLDIE:  No, we did not.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  If you wouldn't mind just turning up Exhibit KX1.4 or KX2.6, which is the coloured copy of the attachment?  I wanted to take you to slide 8 of that presentation.

If you have that in front of you, you will see it is a rate impact presentation that is in a format that includes five subsections of an electricity bill.

Are you folks familiar with this chart?  Have you seen it before?

MS. VINES:  I am familiar with it at a high level only.  I have seen it, but I have not been involved in its preparation.

MR. THOMPSON:  And how about the rest of the panel?

MR. GOLDIE:  I was not involved in its preparation.

MR. THOMPSON:  Same for the other two folks?

MR. WINTERS:  Correct.

MR. McDONELL:  Correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Now, have you seen other presentations of this nature since this one that was done in February, again, the format with the five line items of an electricity bill presented in a bar chart that goes from 2009 to 2014?  Can you recall?

MR. GOLDIE:  I have not.

MR. THOMPSON:  Anyone?

MS. VINES:  I don't recall seeing anything like this.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Thank you.

All right.  Then the next stage in the process, as we understand it from the evidence, was following the letter that I believe the minister wrote to Hydro One on or about the 25th of September, expressing concurrence in plans related to this February presentation.

Hydro One then began its process of informing stakeholders of its -- the elements of its application, and my understanding is that that presentation to stakeholders occurred on March the 2nd of 2010.

Are you folks familiar with that stage in the process?

MS. VINES:  I am.  I was at that stakeholdering session.

MR. THOMPSON:  And did you make a presentation to the stakeholders at that time?

MS. VINES:  No, I did not.

MR. THOMPSON:  Can you recall whether any specific information was provided to stakeholders about the consumer impacts of the proposal at the stakeholder session?

MS. VINES:  I believe whatever was provided to stakeholders at that session is within the -- I can't recall whether it was prefiled evidence or in response to an interrogatory, but there is a submission that shows the presentations made at that stakeholdering session.

MR. THOMPSON:  Right.  I understand that.  But my question was:  Do you recall any presentation being made with respect to overall consumer impacts?

MS. VINES:  I don't recall, but I'm not sure that there wasn't one.  I just don't recall.

MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you.

And everything was rolling along smoothly, as I understand my discussion with Mr. Gregg.  You folks were hoping to file, I think, at the end of March, and then on March the 29th somebody got a hold-off-on-filing call.

Are you aware of that?

MS. VINES:  I have heard about it.  I was not involved and I don't know the specifics.

MR. THOMPSON:  Was anybody on the panel involved in receiving the hold-off-on-filing communication from the ministry?

MR. GOLDIE:  I don't believe so, no.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  The evidence indicates, again, as I understand it, that following that event, there was then -- and I hope I paraphrase this fairly -- a series of meetings between Hydro One people and ministry people.

And my understanding is that during the course of those meetings, efforts were being made to find ways to respond to consumer impact concerns.

Are you folks familiar with that stage in the process?

MS. VINES:  I don't know that any of us were involved in those meetings.  I think they were Mr. Gregg or Mr. Gregg's staff predominantly involved in those meetings, but we were aware there were discussions going on.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  But I took it from your discussion with Mr. Warren that at that time, you folks were back to the drawing board trying to find some areas for making cuts?

MS. VINES:  Oh, sorry, maybe I misunderstood your question.  Yes, within Hydro One there were efforts, I would say on a somewhat informal basis, being made to revisit the work program and to identify any opportunities for possible cuts.

MR. THOMPSON:  Right.  No, I don't think you misunderstood my question.  I take your point you weren't at the meetings.

MS. VINES:  Right.

MR. THOMPSON:  But as a result of the hold-off communication, did some mandate come down from on high or wherever to you people, to go back and take a look at your plans and see if you could come up with some cost reductions?

MS. VINES:  I don't know whether it was a mandate or not.  All I know was that what was communicated, at my level, as an example, was to deal with the lines of business and look for opportunities to reduce, if possible, and to go back and reassess the risk associated with doing that.

MR. THOMPSON:  Right.  Did that arise out of the hold-off-on-filing communication that had been given to Hydro One from the ministry?  Did your efforts in that regard flow out of that incident?

MS. VINES:  I don't know directly whether they did or not, because I wasn't privy to those communications with the minister.  All I was privy to were the internal communications.

MR. THOMPSON:  Well, whoever gave you the instructions, did that person say:  We've been directed by the ministry to hold off, and we've been asked to find some cost reductions?  Can you just help me with what information you received to prompt you to go back to the drawing board?

MS. VINES:  The information was that there was concern with respect to the impact, and that we would revisit our planned work.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  And I was a bit confused.  You were talking about doing some of this -- you were talking with Mr. Warren about doing some of this in March, but I thought you were -- when you were talking about that to him, you were talking about doing work of that nature in response to the OEB distribution Decision?

MS. VINES:  I'm sorry, I think I misspoke with respect to that.  This work was being started in April.

MR. THOMPSON:  Right.

MS. VINES:  My point was that we were looking at some of this in advance of the formal letter which was received May 5th.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  I just wanted to nail that down.  So the hold-off-filing letter, hold-off-filing verbal instruction, came -- I think it is around March the 29th.

You folks, I am interpreting you to be saying:  We started doing something shortly thereafter.

And then, am I correct that hold-off-filing event was followed by the Board April Decision that Mr. Warren referred to?

MS. VINES:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  And that, in and of itself, prompted a continuing close look -- is the way I would put it -- at your plans?

MS. VINES:  I would agree with you.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Now, can you tell me, then, through this phase, what specific information you received, if any, about customer impacts?

MS. VINES:  I'm -- specific information in what regard?  You mean direction?

MR. THOMPSON:  No, information.  Did someone, say, provide you with information that consumers are facing a certain level of increase in 2010, consumers are facing an overall increase in the period 2011 to 2014 of this amount, and take that into account in your plans?

Did you receive anything of that nature from Hydro One people?

MS. VINES:  Well, I think that was implicit in the work we were doing to revisit the work programs, was to try to find ways to mitigate the impact.

I do not recall it being actually quantified.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Well, when you say "implicit" I am talking about explicit information.

Did anyone in Hydro One tell you:  Consumers are facing a percentage increase in 2010 overall of a number?  Did anyone provide you with that kind of information?

MS. VINES:  Not to me personally.  I do not know what others within the organization had presented to them.

MR. THOMPSON:  Did any of the other panel members receive information of that nature, what level of increase overall consumers were facing in 2010?

MR. GOLDIE:  No, I did not.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.

MR. WINTERS:  Mr. Thompson, if I may, some of that information would have been calculated as we were going through our distribution rate case.

We are very aware of the rate application -- or the cost implications to our customers, and I just want to go back to one of your earlier questions on what information is provided to the planners within each business unit in preparation for the preparation of the business plans as we -- that would speak to customer impact.

And if I could point you to our -- the Hydro One strategic plan, which I believe we filed under I-75, attachment 1, our strategic plan talks about the -- delivering power efficiently and reliably to our customers.  It talks about our customers' world, and talks about satisfying our customers.

So it is inherent within our strategic plan, which of course we take into account when we go through our business planning.

MR. THOMPSON:  Well, I don't recall any information being presented in the distribution case.  Were you talking about the distribution case that was decided in April when you made that statement a moment ago?

MR. WINTERS:  Well, I believe your last question was around the quantifiable impact to the customer's bill.

And so I know that information is presented and is calculated for the distribution rate case.

So maybe I am confusing matters and talking about a chronology before the time period of the spring of this year, but I just didn't want it to go unspoken that we are not aware of the impact on the customer.

MR. THOMPSON:  Well, I am giving you an opportunity to tell me.  What information did you have before the May -- mid May presentation to the board of directors pertaining to the overall impact on the electricity bill of increases not only in transmission and distribution, but the other elements of the bill, that consumers were facing in 2010?  Let's just start there.  Are you aware of any --


MR. ROGERS:  That's been the problem.  I think there has been a disconnect here.  These witnesses weren't here to hear this line of questioning of all the other panels and I am not sure are aware of the fact that Mr. Thompson was referring to, not distribution impact or not transmission impact, but other impacts, commodity cost, HST, and so on.

So that is perhaps where Mr. Winters was missing the question.

MR. WINTERS:  I apologize.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So were you aware of anything of the overall nature?

MR. WINTERS:  Other than general knowledge, I will say no.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Well, what was your general knowledge of the increase consumers were facing in 2010, percentage wise, big picture?

MR. WINTERS:  Well, I don't know if giving you a percentage would be classified as general knowledge, so...

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Well, let me then move on from that and ask about the presentation to the directors in May.

One of you referred to that when I think you were being examined by Mr. Warren.  That is attached to CME No. 3.  My question is:  Were any of you involved in the presentation to the directors in May?

MS. VINES:  No, none of us were.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right, thanks.

Now, in response, again, to Mr. Warren, the panel referred him, as other witnesses have, to Exhibit I, tab 1, schedule 38.  This is the breakdown, as I understand it, of the OM&A reductions that are reflected in the May presentation to the directors for 2011 of something slightly more than $19 million.  Am I right?

MS. VINES:  That's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  Right.  And I understand you people to be saying that your contribution to this are the numbers that are found on the shared services and other costs line on page 2 of Exhibit I, tab 1, schedule 38 totalling $6.5 million?

MS. VINES:  On page 3, yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  I was looking at the table 1 on page 2, and then there are a description of each of those items starting at page 3; is that right?

MS. VINES:  I'm sorry, yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right, thanks.

Now, I would just like to ask you a few questions about those.  The first one is asset management, and you say, with the implementation of Cornerstone phase 1 and 2, asset management was able to reduce the organizational cost because of improved accessibility to data and reporting.

Now, is that something that occurred before March 29th?

MS. VINES:  The implementation of Cornerstone's phases 1 and 2 would have occurred before March 29th.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  And so what you're talking about here, then, is really recognizing some additional cost reductions that would have been reflected, I suppose, had you done an update of your application; is that right?

MS. VINES:  Yes.  That's what this reflects.

We went back and asked the various lines of business to revisit their work programs and to look for other opportunities for incremental reductions.  This is the asset management incremental reduction.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Well, we may be quibbling here about terminology, but was this really something that was
-- it was in the application, but had somebody asked you to identify it six months before, would you have found this number?

MS. VINES:  No.  This reduction of 1.1 would not have been in the original application had we filed in March.

MR. THOMPSON:  But is that simply because you don't bother to update before filing?

MS. VINES:  We may be speaking at cross-purposes.

MR. THOMPSON:  We may be.

MS. VINES:  When we originally were set to file this application in March, it would not have had a $1.1 million reduction within asset management within it.

When we went back to revisit all of the work programs and we asked people to establish stretch targets, for lack of a better word, asset management said, We think we have enough experience now with SAP.  We are prepared to say we can take a further $1.1 million out of our budget.

So they stretched themselves to do that.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Now, let's move on, then.  Common corporate functions and services, there you're talking about lower external relations costs as a result of staff retirements, and this kind of thing.

Am I correct that the events that you are describing there had already occurred before March?  It is not something you're saying, We are going to do, take an additional step here and save some costs.

These things had already occurred, and updating for them produces this cost reduction; is that right?

MS. VINES:  I believe the retirement had occurred, but the decision not to replace that person, and therefore take the reduction, occurred just prior to this application.

MR. THOMPSON:  And what about IT costs?  Is that something that -- taking, for example, savings related to the INERGI contract extension, had that taken place well before the end of March?

MR. WINTERS:  No, it had not.

MR. THOMPSON:  When did that occur?

MR. WINTERS:  The extended contract, I believe, was effective May of this year.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  And then the retiring/removing software applications, no longer needed to the SAP, what sort of vintage of events gave rise to that initiative?

MR. WINTERS:  This had --


MR. THOMPSON:  Was it pre March?

MR. WINTERS:  It was not pre March.  We have -- and as I was answering Mr. Shepherd this morning, we do have an application rationalization strategy.  When asked to find further cuts, we took a more aggressive approach by retiring applications on a time line that we otherwise wouldn't have.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  So what was the time line of the events that gave rise to that saving?  If it wasn't pre March, when was it?

MR. WINTERS:  Perhaps Ms. Vines can help me out with the timing, because it all happened around the same time.

MS. VINES:  I'm sorry, can you repeat the question?

MR. THOMPSON:  Yes.  I was trying to ascertain whether the events that gave rise to this saving that you are talking about had occurred before the end of March.

MS. VINES:  I believe the response is similar to the asset management one, in that the events had occurred in that Cornerstone had been implemented, but, again, I think when asked to stretch, the IT organization said we can find further savings of this magnitude.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  And then the other $2.5 million is talking about lower overheads capitalized due to the reduction in the 2011 transmission capital expenditures and shared services costs.

Is that item primarily as a result of postponing some projects?

MS. VINES:  Yes.  So the capital base was smaller.

MR. THOMPSON:  Thanks.  Now, could you just tell me how the Board's decision, April 10 decision, influenced your work?

MS. VINES:  Well, as you know, there were significant reductions to both OM&A and capital in both 2010 and 2011.

We knew we would have to make some reductions within the work programs and probably some changes to staffing plans in order to accommodate those reductions, particularly in the shared services area, where it would flow through and affect the transmission portion of the costs, as well.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Well, the Board's reduction, I believe, on an envelope basis was a $40 million reduction in 2010, and I think it is roughly the same amount in 2011, in distribution.

MS. VINES:  Correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So did that have any effect on influencing the targets that you were striving to achieve in responding to the concerns that had been raised about impacts?

MS. VINES:  Well, it was clearly interpreted by Hydro One as an indication of concern of the Board.  And if the Board has those concerns, we share those concerns, and we wanted to look at any opportunities we could to -- to implement those reductions, not only because of the decision, but to better position ourselves going forward.

So we revisited quite a number of the plans.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  We have heard from Mr. Gregg that a large portion of the 19 and the 20 million relates to merely postponing projects.  And it would appear that at least 2.5 million of your 6.5 falls into that category, if I understood your answer correctly.

Are you telling us that is the best you could do?

MS. VINES:  Yes.  We believe this application represents the best we could do.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Now, my last area, then -- just before I leave that, in all of this work where you were aware consumer impacts were a driving force, did any of you ask anyone what the overall levels of increase that consumers were facing in 2010 were, for example?  Did anyone bother to ask that question in your group?

MS. VINES:  I don't think they asked explicitly on a total-bill basis, no.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.

Now, the last area, this deals with sort of a derivative of a topic Mr. Warren was talking to you about.

This was Board's concern about compensation levels and that kind of thing, and there is a passage in -- I believe it is the June presentation to the board of directors.  It is in both the confidential and the on-the-record filings.  I will refer to the confidential exhibit, Exhibit K1.2.5.  It is actually the last page of the document.

And it is referring to implications of the 2009-2010 transmission decision.

Does the panel have that available?

MR. GOLDIE:  We are just looking.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.

MR. GOLDIE:  Sorry, that was the June 18th document?

MR. THOMPSON:  Yes, it is.  And it is -- the last three pages are a separate memo to the directors of June 18, 2009.  And on the last page, it is talking about implications of the 2009-2010 transmission decision.

Do you have that paragraph in front of you?

MR. GOLDIE:  We do now.  Thank you.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And at this point, this is in developing the five-year plan.  I think Ms. Frank authored this, if I am not mistaken.  And Laura Formusa signed it as well.

But it refers to the recent transmission decision that I think Mr. Warren was referencing in some of his discussion with you.

And the last sentence reads:

"The OEB also disallowed $4 million in overall compensation costs based upon the Mercer study, which showed Hydro One's compensation costs to be 17 percent above the median.  The company is at risk for a similar reduction in this current distribution filing."

Have I read that accurately?

MR. GOLDIE:  Yes, you have.

MR. THOMPSON:  And then Mr. Warren was referring to the decision in the distribution filing to which this memorandum refers.  And as I understood him -- understood the decision, that transmission disallowance was, in effect, carried forward into the distribution case, and the number was in the order of $9 million.

Is that your understanding of what happened?

MR. GOLDIE:  Yes, it is.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And am I correct that in this case, we don't have any further update from Mercer?

MR. GOLDIE:  No, we do not.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  And so is the situation still the same, that Hydro One -- based on the last study we have -- Hydro One's compensation costs are 17 percent above the median?  That still prevailed?

MR. GOLDIE:  Yes, I believe it would.  We have not had any rounds of collective bargaining since that time, so I believe it would.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  And in terms of, then, the staff levels, the disallowance in the last transmission case was four million.

Are the staff levels that we're dealing with in this case larger than the staff levels in the last case?  Again, rough order of magnitude.

MR. GOLDIE:  They would be slightly higher now, yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Thank you very much.  Those are my questions.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you, Mr. Thompson.

Mr. Buonaguro?
Cross-Examination by Mr. Buonaguro:


MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.

Good afternoon, panel.  My name is Michael Buonaguro.  I am counsel for the Vulnerable Energy Consumers Coalition.

I would like to start looking at an interrogatory response.  I am looking at Exhibit I, tab 4, schedule 34.

So a VECC interrogatory, and it is dealing with shared services and other OM&A, in particular.

MR. GOLDIE:  I believe we have it.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  At part (e) of that interrogatory, we asked, part (e):

"Reconcile the CCFS costs for 2011 and 2012 with the schedules in the service level agreements for the two years."

And going over to the response for that particular interrogatory, which I believe is at page 5 of the exhibit -- or it starts at page 4 of the exhibit, sorry.

The answer says:

"Tables below reconcile the updated total CCFS costs for 2011 and 2012 respectively with the schedules in the service level agreements as outlined in Exhibit A, tab 7, schedule 3, tables 2 and 3."

Do you see that?

MR. GOLDIE:  Yes, we do.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, I want to make sure there is no misunderstanding here.

The service level agreements that you refer to in the answer, I believe they ended in 2010; is that correct?  They're 2010 service level agreements?

MS. VINES:  The affiliate service agreements, yes, they are signed for a one-year period.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And so my understanding is that there are no service level agreements for the test years 2011 and 2012?

MS. VINES:  They have not been signed.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Have they been produced, the drafts?

MS. VINES:  No.  But these costs would have been allocated as part of the business planning process, but the actual agreements have not yet been signed.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  But you do have service level agreements for 2011 and 2012?  They just haven't been signed as between the affiliates, is what you're telling me?

MS. VINES:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Because I mean -- can you produce them, please?

MS. VINES:  So let me rephrase that.

The affiliate services agreements can be -- the amounts can be determined in two ways.  One can be through the common cost-allocation methodology, consistent with what we use between transmission and distribution.

Other services agreements are actually fee-based and negotiated between the respective entities, depending on what services are going to be provided in the following year.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So what are you telling me with respect to the CCFS costs?

MS. VINES:  So I am telling you we do not have any signed affiliate service agreements beyond 2010.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Are you telling me -- you said there are two ways to do it; one, you can do a cost allocation using an approved methodology, or two, you can sign the service level agreement.  Right?

MS. VINES:  Correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  For CCFS costs, my understanding is that they're done through a service level agreement; am I incorrect?

MS. VINES:  I believe you are correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I am –- sorry, I couldn't quite hear you –- I'm correct?

MS. VINES:  I believe you are correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So there will be or there should be service level agreements for 2011 and 2012 for those costs, CCFS costs, because that's how you determine what the costs are?  You enter into service level agreements with the affiliates for CCFS costs?

MS. VINES:  We do.  I am just not 100 percent certain whether everything is done through the allocation methodology or not with respect to CF&S.  I would need to check that.  I am not 100 percent sure.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I am getting the impression that you have the schedules -- or that you have the service level agreements that the affiliates are going to sign which will underpin your 2011 and 2012 costs in this category.  You just haven't signed them and, therefore, haven't produced them.  Is that the situation?

MS. VINES:  That's what I believe it is, but I am not 100 percent confident.

MR. BUONAGURO:  What is the alternative?

MS. VINES:  I am just not -- I don't have sufficient depth of knowledge with respect to these agreements to say whether all CF&S costs go through that allocation methodology, or not.

MR. ROGERS:  May I volunteer that we will make an undertaking to find out and advise the Board?

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you, Mr. Rogers.

MS. HELT:  That will be undertaking J5.5.
UNDERTAKING NO. J5.5:  TO ADVISE WHETHER THERE ARE SERVICE LEVEL AGREEMENTS SIGNED BY AFFILIATES FOR 2011 AND 2012 UNDERPINNING COSTS WHICH UNDERPIN COSTS IN THIS CATEGORY.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.

Now, looking at the interrogatory response, you have calculated -- or certainly the interrogatory response calculates amounts for each affiliate under each of the different categories that fall under CCFS, such that you have an amount that you are going to claim in this rate hearing; right?

MS. VINES:  You're referring still to page 3?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Page 4 and 5, I believe.

MS. VINES:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So how did you get those amounts, if it is not in reference to the service level agreement?

MS. VINES:  I believe it is in reference to service level agreements.  I just do not know -- I am not familiar enough with the agreements to give you an answer that I am totally confident in.  But I think with the undertaking, we can come back with that.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Is the undertaking going to produce the draft agreements, or produce the draft agreements and something else?

MR. ROGERS:  Mr. Chairman, I am going to make enquiries to see what is available.  I don't believe there are any draft agreements, as my friend has in mind.  I think this is done through the allocation process, but I need to check and confirm that.

There are no signed agreements.  I don't believe there are any draft agreements, either.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Thank you for that.

MR. ROGERS:  If I am wrong, if there are signed agreements, they will be produced.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay, thank you.

And I think the follow-up, just as a matter -- if that is true and this isn't relating to service level agreements, then it is done through the cost allocation methodology?

MR. ROGERS:  That is what I said.  I believe that to be the case.  I just need to confirm it.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  I can leave it with the undertaking, then.

Now, staying with this exhibit and going back a couple of pages --

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Did we give that a number?

MR. BUONAGURO:  I think we did already.

MS. HELT:  I think is that part of J5.5.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  At page 2, Mr. Shepherd brought you to this earlier.  And, in particular, I am looking at the -- at C, table 1, which talks about the INERGI costs.  Do you see that?

MS. VINES:  Yes, I do.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And in speaking about this, I think it was put to the panel that when it says total INERGI in 2011 $125 million, and 2012 $127 million, that those were the actual total costs paid to INERGI -- or forecast to be paid to INERGI under the contract; is that true?  I am not sure you actually responded with that affirmation, so I want to get a handle on that.

MR. WINTERS:  And let me answer that for you.  The costs as listed in this table do indeed show an increase from 2011 to 2012, and they would represent the costs to INERGI.

I would have to confirm whether they represent pre renegotiated contract of the extended contract, or post.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  I am just trying to process that.

So there is a possibility that under the terms of the extended contract, these numbers may change?

MR. WINTERS:  I can tell you for the IT portion, which I mentioned to Mr. Shepherd, which represent about 50 percent of the total costs, that the IT portion does have a decrease from 2011 to 2012.  So I would expect there to be also a decrease in the other towers.  So I would have expected to see those numbers go down from 2011 to 2012

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Perhaps you can tell me this.  How many different sub-categories does the INERGI contract fall into?

MR. WINTERS:  There was an interrogatory on that, and just so that I get it straight, let me point you to it, if I can do so quickly.


MR. BUONAGURO:  We are two pages behind, I think, on the monitor, for people trying to use that.  We are on page 2 of 5.

MR. WINTERS:  In interrogatory I, tab 2-3 -- and you don't need to turn to it, because I can read off the quick sentence:
"INERGI performs outsourced services in the areas of customer care, information technology, human resources/payroll, finance and accounting, supply chain and settlements."


MR. BUONAGURO:  I have taken your word and I haven't turned up the interrogatory response.  Does it include amounts for the test years for each of those categories?

MR. WINTERS:  No, no.  It was just a description, as you have asked.

MR. BUONAGURO:  What I would like to do is get a handle on the actual total INERGI costs and what categories and how they escalated over time, because I am a little confused, having heard the testimony this morning.

So perhaps from 2009 to 2012, the total INERGI costs in those categories for each year, could you provide that as a part of an interrogatory response?

MR. WINTERS:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Sorry, as an undertaking.

MR. ROGERS:  I assume that can be done, Mr. Chairman, fairly readily.

MR. WINTERS:  I won't say "fairly readily", but we can produce that information.

MR. ROGERS:  Well, I will undertake to -- really my only concern is how much time it will take.  It sounds like a relatively simple proposition, but I am often wrong about that.  Give us a number and, if we can't produce it, I will tell you why.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Is that satisfactory, Mr. Buonaguro?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  I am just going to follow up on some points related to INERGI.

MS. HELT:  That will be undertaking --

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Hold fire and we will put it all together.

MS. HELT:  All right.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Going back to the table we have on the screen at interrogatory I-4-34, I think you still haven't been able to tell me concretely, when we say total INERGI, that is the total costs, which I am assuming now is the total costs paid to INERGI under all of those categories you just gave to me.  Can you confirm that?

MR. WINTERS:  No, I cannot confirm.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So definitely I am going to need the interrogatory.  So I think the interrogatory, as it stands -- and what I am trying to do is, at the end of the table, find out what the total INERGI payments are through those years 2009 through forecast 2011 and 2012, if you could.

MR. WINTERS:  Okay.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I understand that Mr. Rogers is going to look into it.

MR. ROGERS:  Yes.

MS. HELT:  That will be J5.6.
UNDERTAKING NO. J5.6:  TO PROVIDE TOTAL INERGI COSTS FROM 2009 THROUGH 2012.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, as part of that, I am turning up for reference purposes Exhibit C1, tab 2, schedule 9, which there is a bit of a discussion about the INERGI contract.  This is page 5 of 21.

MR. WINTERS:  I'm there.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  And looking at the discussion on the cost of living changes adjustment, the COLA factor, it says at line 9:
"In 2011 the COLA cost factor is $13.5 million.  In 2011 it is estimated at $14.3 million, and in 2012 at 14.9 million."


Do you see that?

MR. WINTERS:  Yes, I do.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Are you familiar with the cost of living adjustment embedded in the INERGI contract?

MR. WINTERS:  Somewhat.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Perhaps you can, I will start simply, and this is -- I am asking you because I simply don't know.

MR. WINTERS:  Okay.

MR. BUONAGURO:  When it says in 2011 it is estimated at $14.3 million and in 2012 $14.9 million, is that a cumulative adjustment?  Do you add 14.3 in 2011, and then add another 14.9 million in 2012?

MR. WINTERS:  No, that is a cumulated adjustment starting all the way back when the INERGI contract came to be, I think, in 2000, 2001.  So it accumulates over time.  So it is cumulative, not additive.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So, basically, by looking at this and it says in 2010 it was 13.5, in 2011 it is an additional 0.8 million?

MR. WINTERS:  Correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  That helps a lot.  Thank you for that.  I am going to move on, then.  Thank you.

And I am going to go back to what is, I guess, today's favourite interrogatory response, which was I-4-35, which are the compensation tables that we requested.  So you might want to have those handy.

And my understanding –- well, first of all, you confirm that for the years 2011 and 2012, those were at one point forecasts that I think were embedded in the business plan, but they don't necessarily relate to the current filing.  Is that --


MR. McDONELL:  Yes.  I think I said a number of things.  I think I started –- yeah, this is a very confusing topic, and I'm sorry about that.

MR. BUONAGURO:  That's okay.

MR. McDONELL:  I think it all goes back to that exhibit that we have in our evidence which shows total compensation, and it is total compensation for both transmission and distribution.  It is total compensation just for year-end staff.  So it does include a lot of compensation that we have.

So it does include all of the compensation.  If we had a staff that worked the month of April, they're not on payroll December 31st, that compensation would be included.

And we also preface this whole thing by saying that the table isn't a direct link to our revenue requirement under this application.

So that all said, when we put together this table, it was based on a work program that was being contemplated in March.  You have heard a number of times that that has been subsequently revised.  A number of programs are not in the May filing.

But what we did not do was we didn't update the headcount.  So the headcount, I think, to answer your question, is reflective of the planning in March.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Thank you.

And so the way I like to do it, and I go back to Exhibit -- sorry, I am just looking at Exhibit J2.3, which is an undertaking response I got fairly early last week.

It is specific to minimum-level spending, but it actually shows all of the categories, and it shows total sustaining and total operating, total shared services, spending and such.

MR. McDONELL:  You have to give us a minute.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Sure.  It is Exhibit J2.3.  I find it easy to find in my stuff, because it is blue.

MR. McDONELL:  And your question -- sorry, I didn't hear --


MR. BUONAGURO:  No, I haven't asked the question yet, so --


MR. McDONELL:  Okay.  Good.

MR. BUONAGURO:  -- you're not missing anything yet.

I just want to understand the relationship between the numbers that were produced in Interrogatory No. 35, the VECC interrogatory, and this.

This is how I am understanding it.  So if you look at, for example 2011, OM&A and capital spending, if you look at page 2, the as-filed OM&A spending request is 436.3.

MR. McDONELL:  Can I just stop you right there?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Sure.

MR. McDONELL:  Are we back at the VECC --


MR. BUONAGURO:  No, no.  We are on the blue pages.

MR. McDONELL:  Oh, okay.  There we go.  Sorry.

MR. BUONAGURO:  J2.3.  There is a requested $436.3 million in OM&A spending, and then on the next page, there is requested transmission capital spending of $1,000,151,000.  And those together represent the transmission plan, work plan for the test year, right?

MR. McDONELL:  That is correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  Then you have equivalent numbers, OM&A and capital spending, for the distribution side of the business; correct?

MR. McDONELL:  Correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And you add that all together and you have a really big work plan, which is underpinned by the need for a number of staff?

MR. McDONELL:  Correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And if I want to know how much staff that is, you go through, you basically build a picture of what that staff would look like through the work plan, because when people put together this work plan for any particular project or work category, they make an assumption about the type of personnel need.  And embedded in that assumption is a labour rate for that person and vehicle cost for that type of work, and so on and so forth.  And you build up what I would call a hypothetical headcount for the test year.

Is that something like what goes on?

MR. McDONELL:  I think it might be something like what might go on.  I might pass it on to Ms. Vines; she may have a comment.

But I guess the other thing that we are not including here is there's a number of ways in which the work can be accomplished.  We could use regular staff, temporary staff, casual construction, contractors, third parties of some nature.

So I think there are certainly some ways in which we get our work accomplished that would not have an impact on headcount, because they're not employees.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  And actually, that is part of what I was trying to understand through this questioning, so thank you for raising it.

But so they start with individual project and they say:  Okay, we are going to need two people of a particular skill level, and a truck, and so many hours, and they build up a -- you build up each little project like that and you get an OM&A figure.

My question is, as you're, I guess, led to:  How do you work in the fact that you have a blend of different types of people that are working on this, i.e., you could use on any particular job PWU regular staff or you could use part-time staff, or you could -- and so on and so forth.  How does that get worked into the actual work plan that you are going to present, which is actually where the money is pegged for the rate filing?

MS. VINES:  I will try to help you with that, and this goes back to the earlier discussion with Mr. Shepherd.

So yes, I think your understanding with respect to how we build up the costing of the work is quite accurate, and our prefiled evidence at C-14-1 talks about that in more detail.

But at a high level, the overall process is the asset management planners -- and you've heard from them on panels 1 and 2 -- define how much work and what work needs to be required.

They then turn those requirements over to our service provider, so our customer operations group, our grid operations group, who then go into it in detail, analyze the work, determine the resource mix required, whether it is internal, external, what classifications they require to execute that work.

That all then culminates in the business plan, which was my point, that we can't just turn on a dime and create updated headcount, because you got to first define the work.  You then got to define how you are going to do the work, specifically what types of resources are required, and at the end of that process, then you see a headcount.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Thank you for that.

So behind –- again, I am using J2.3 as a reference point -- behind the figures in each individual category presumably there is a more detailed level of more specific project detail, but behind that there is actually somebody going and saying:  Okay, on this particular job we're going to use, based on what we have now, three regular staff and one part-time, and that will affect the costing of that particular project.  Is it that detailed?

MS. VINES:  Yes, it is that detailed.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Can you tell me where the -- and this comes from the exhibit you were talking about, the C-4-1, I believe it was – sorry, C-14-1, which is the costing-of-work exhibit, and it talks about the standard labour rate?

MS. VINES:  Correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  First of all, I am not too familiar with standard labour rates.  I only got interested based on your explanation as to why all of the data we got in 35 seemed to be relevant, so I won't be too harsh, but the standard labour rate, is it -- I am assuming that there is a number of standard labour rates, and it is by job classification?

MS. VINES:  There are, I believe, going from memory, there are approximately 65 standard labour rates.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  And did the standard labour rates -- are they separated -– well, maybe you can give me a description.  How are they separated?  Is it simply by job description, but also what type of person is doing that job, i.e., regular staff, part-time staff, and so on?

MS. VINES:  Part-time staff and regular staff are compensated at the same rate.  I'm not positive -- I believe we would have a different standard labour rate for a regular regional line maintainer, for example, versus a hiring hall regional line maintainer.

MR. BUONAGURO:  What I am trying to get at, and maybe I can -- it is on the screen here.

I am trying to understand whether the particular mix of staff that you actually have is important in terms of how you cost the OM&A and capital work that ends up going into revenue requirement.

Understand?  So if it is the case that one category of staff is getting less vacation or less benefits, or what have you, and they're the ones who are happening to be doing the work.  Is that picked up in how you class the work plan, or is it the same across the board, anyway, so it doesn't matter?

I'm trying to understand what relationship there is between the actual head count and the actual pricing to make sure there is no disconnect.

MS. VINES:  I am not sure I completely understand your question, but the standard labour rates are very refined and take into account not only the wages paid to the given individual, but the cost of statutory obligations, benefits packages, the cost of management who are involved in supervising those employees.

There are many different elements built into the standard labour rate, and it is quite a precise methodology.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Is it actually specific -- I will take an example, let's say a particular work project, and you can do it two different ways.  One, you can have it with staff complement A or you can do staff complement B.  The work will get done.  They're both qualified to do it, but staff complement A, is there a possibility that you could have a maximum cost and a minimum cost for that same work, depending on who does it?

MS. VINES:  Conceptually, I believe that is true, although I am not close enough to the creation of standard labour rates to say what that difference would be.  But clearly there are different rates associated with different types of staff.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  So what I am trying to understand is whether I should be concerned or not that the differences in your actual staff complement are being picked up and represented in terms of how you are costing the work, because what -- normally, what we try to do, or we've been trying to do, I guess, for a couple of years, is match the actual compensation to the work plan, but there is this, I guess, translation in terms of how you actually cost the work that maybe we are not -- or at least I am not fully understanding.  So there remains that concern.

MS. VINES:  And I think part of the issue may be you referenced head count, and that head count table is a very rough, broad brush of numbers of people on the payroll at a point in time.  But it is not refined data in the same way that a standard labour rate is refined -- is a refined costing methodology.

I don't know if I have answered your question, but it's clearly to the corporation's interest to use the most cost-effective resources to do any piece of work, because then we can do more work within the same spending envelope.  So we would always look for that best resource mix.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So I understand -- my understanding right now is that at some point in doing the business planning for the years that captured 2011 and 2012, there was a certain level of OM&A and capital spending that was presumed and based on a suite of projects, and that that produced, I guess, the hypothetical head count, I will call it, but that because the filing has since changed from that business plan, you managed to change the OM&A and capital figures, but you haven't done that extra exercise, which would be to create the hypothetical head count that would support it, which I am assuming is a mixture of what your actual head count is now based on different categories, plus how you intended to fill out the rest of your needs over the course of the year.

Does that sort of capture the present situation?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. McDONELL:  Perhaps this will help.  I think what we have been talking about with you and Ms. Vines is really about the costing of the work that comes under this application.  So this application truly reflects the cost of the work that's going to be done.

The next stage is really the work execution.  How is that work going to be done?  And that is the -- that is what we are working on now, in terms of what mix -- how much head count, what mix of head count, whether or not contractors, third parties will be used to accomplish the work?  And that is the information we don't have right at this moment.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So I guess the residual concern I have is that if you've costed the work, but you don't know who is going to do it, who actually does the work could materially affect the cost, could it not?  It seems somewhat circular to me.  I'm not understanding why presumably you say it isn't.

Let me put a hypothetical, pure hypothetical.  The costing is based on a certain mix, presumably, of certain types of staff and outsourcing, and so on, third party contracts.  But, in theory, you could get approval for a particular level of spending in OM&A and capital based on your work plan, and then, again, purely hypothetical, completely outsource the entire thing to a different utility altogether, which may have a very different pricing scheme.

I am wondering if -- since that seems to be possible, why shouldn't we be concerned, other than the fact you are not going to do that, because what it does highlight is that there may be disparity between the hypothetical head count that you are sort of relying on, in terms of your pricing, versus what could actually happen in the future?

MS. VINES:  So, I think the answer to your question is you are correct that conceptually the cost to do the work will vary depending on the resource mix that we use.  I don't know whether it would vary materially, but it could vary, which would leave us with one of two possibilities.

Either we would do less work, because we can't afford to do as much as we originally expected to, or, as you've seen in the past, in some occasions we have believed we needed to do that much work and we have overspent, essentially, and exceeded a Board-approved amount.  And that might be a situation where our expectations with respect to how to resource something didn't evolve as anticipated and it cost us more, but we still needed to do that work.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  I think isn't there a third possibility, though, which is, you do exactly what you said you are going to do in terms of work, but it costs you a lot less?

MS. VINES:  Yes, that would be a possibility, too.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay, thank you.  Those are my questions.  Thank you very much.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you, Mr. Buonaguro.  Mr. Aiken.

MR. AIKEN:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Cross-Examination by Mr. Aiken:


MR. AIKEN:  Panel, my name is Randy Aiken.  I am a consultant for BOMA and LPMA.  I've got a couple of brief questions.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. Aiken, let me interrupt just for a second before you get started.  Mr. Rogers, it being quarter to 4:00, it may be -- just in consideration of your witnesses, you may want to release them for today.

MR. ROGERS:  Yes, thank you very much.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  There is little utility in calling them this afternoon.

MR. ROGERS:  Yes.  Thank you.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Sorry, Mr. Aiken.

MR. AIKEN:  Panel, can you pull up BOMA interrogatory 15?  So that's Exhibit I, tab 6, schedule 15.  I will be referring to this in both sets of questions that I have for you this afternoon.

MR. McDONELL:  We have it.

MR. AIKEN:  Part g) of the response indicates that the PWU collective agreement expires March 31st, 2011, and then the question in part h) -- and I apologize for this in advance.  It was poorly worded.  The question as written says:
"What is the impact on the revenue requirement in 2011 and 2012 if the economic increases for April 1, 2011 and 2012 were reduced from 3.0% to 2.0%?"


What I had meant to ask for was exactly that, but specific to the PWU members.

Now, the response provided indicates that:
"The dollar impact is $0.7M in 2011 and $1.6M in 2012."


So my question is:  Is the response based on the PWU members, only?

MR. McDONELL:  It is based on PWU -- we understood your question.

MR. AIKEN:  Good.

MR. McDONELL:  It is PWU members, only.

MR. AIKEN:  I am glad somebody did.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Telepathy.

MR. AIKEN:  My second area that I wanted to ask you about, if you can keep the BOMA interrogatory in front of you, but then also pull up Exhibit A, tab 12, schedule 1?  That's Exhibit A, tab 12, schedule 1, appendix A, and the third page of that appendix.

MR. McDONELL:  Exhibit A, tab 12, schedule 2?

MR. AIKEN:  Schedule 1.

MR. McDONELL:  Schedule 1.

MR. AIKEN:  Appendix A, and then page 3 of 4 of that appendix.  On that page, you will see three bold headings, "B, PWU staff," "C, MCP staff," and "D, incentive plan payout"?

MR. McDONELL:  We have that.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  And my question is on the MCP short-term incentive plan.

The evidence at line 25 of Exhibit A states that:

"The payout under the plan is assumed to be 20 percent in all years."

And if I could stop there, my question is:  20 percent of what?

[Witness panel confers.]

MR. McDONELL:  It would be 20 percent of MCP base pay.

MR. AIKEN:  And how is the MCP base pay defined?  That is the base wages you're talking about?

MR. McDONELL:  That is correct.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  Then if you look at VECC No. 35, I guess it is, the one with that we've talked about quite a bit today -- yes.

So Exhibit I, tab 4, schedule 35, attachment 1, if you go to the third page, this is for 2012, and I am just highlighting.  I see under the "incentive" column and in the "MCP" line, a figure of $10,681,000.

But that is not 20 percent of the base pay, which is 86 million; am I correct?

MR. McDONELL:  That is correct.

MR. AIKEN:  So how is the 10,681,000 -- that is 20 percent of what?

MR. McDONELL:  That is a good question.  Just let me confer.  Just one moment.

[Witness panel confers.]

MR. McDONELL:  I don't have the level of detail to answer that question right now.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  Maybe I can move on to the second part of my question, and that goes back to Exhibit I, tab 6, schedule 15, and part (m) of that response.

And below the table there, where it shows the budgeted STI, the payout and the percentage of the budgeted 2007 through 2009, there is a footnote that says:
"MCP STI is budgeted at 75 percent of the total possible payout."

And that is where I was getting confused.  There is 20 percent in one area.  I didn't know 20 percent of what.  This I know, the 75 percent, what it is applied to.

But is there some way to reconcile that 20 percent of base pay and the 75 percent of the total possible payout, so that we know we end up in the same place?

[Witness panel confers.]

MR. McDONELL:  Yes.  I see the inconsistency that you are pointing to.  I don't have an answer.  We...

MR. ROGERS:  Can we undertake to get that information for the Board?

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.

MS. HELT:  Undertaking J5.7.
UNDERTAKING NO. J5.7:  EXPLAIN DISCREPANCY IN MCP STI NUMBERS AND WHAT PERCENTAGE OF TOTAL POSSIBLE PAYOUT THE FORECAST FOR 2011 AND 2012 REPRESENT.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.

MR. AIKEN:  And then my last question, I guess, is on VECC 35, the 10.681 million, does that represent 75 percent of the total possible payout in the same way that the response in part (m) is put together?

MR. McDONELL:  You are looking at which year?

MR. AIKEN:  Well, 2011-2012.  Do the numbers shown in --


MR. McDONELL:  2011, yes.

MR. AIKEN:  -- under the "incentive" column for 2011-2012 in VECC 35, represent 75 percent of the total possible payout, in the same manner as shown in part (m) of the BOMA interrogatory?

MR. McDONELL:  No.  They wouldn't.  I believe what we would have done is we would take the last actual for 2009, and we would have increased it by an economic factor, and also realizing if there are more MCP employees, to incorporate that into the potential payout.

So it is not directly tied to the 75 percent payout.  It's a forecast.

MR. AIKEN:  Well, isn't that what a budget is?  A forecast?

MR. McDONELL:  No, I understand your point.  It is just a different methodology in how we calculate those two numbers.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  Could I then have the undertaking amended to add in:  What percentage of the total possible payout the forecast for 2011 and 2012 represent?

MR. ROGERS:  Yes.

MR. AIKEN:  Thank you.  Those are my questions.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. Buonaguro?
Continued Cross-Examination by Mr. Buonaguro:


MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  I was so engrossed with the panel's answers to my questions that I forgot to ask for the schedule of the 60 or so standard labour rates that they spoke about.

I was wondering if I could get that undertaking now?  I don't think it is on the record.

MS. VINES:  I...

MR. ROGERS:  I assume that is readily available, and there's no objection to producing it?

MS. VINES:  I believe it would be available.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.

MR. ROGERS:  Yes.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  As reluctant as we are, Mr. Buonaguro, to...

MS. HELT:  That will be undertaking J5.8.
UNDERTAKING NO. J5.8:  to PROVIDE SCHEDULE OF STANDARD LABOUR RATES.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you very much.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.  Ms. Helt?

MS. HELT:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.
Cross-Examination by Ms. Helt:

MS. HELT:  Good afternoon, members of the panel.  My name is Maureen Helt, counsel for the Board.

I have a few questions for you are.  It should take a little less than half an hour.  A number of the questions have already been covered-off by my friends.  The questions will focus on both shared services and then there will be additional questions with respect to compensation.

If I could ask you to first turn to the table at Exhibit C1, tab 2, schedule 6, page 3, table 1?

MS. VINES:  I have that.

MS. HELT:  You have that before you?

MS. VINES:  Yes.

MS. HELT:  All right.  If you look at this table, we see that the shared services O&M is following steadily to the test years.  However, this effect seems to be largely due to increases in other OM&A, which works to reduce the shared services total; would you agree with that?

MS. VINES:  Yes, I would.

MS. HELT:  So would you briefly explain what is included in the "other OM&A" line and why this is changing so much in the test years?

MS. VINES:  The largest single component of that -- and there's a breakdown I could refer you to within C1, tab 2, schedule 7, and page 27 provides -- have you got that?

MS. HELT:  We are just pulling it up.

So these, then, are the -- these are the other components of the other OM&A, then?

MS. VINES:  That's correct.  That's a breakdown that reconciles to that "other OM&A" bottom line on the table that you first took me to.

MS. HELT:  Okay.  Thank you.

Now, offsetting these other OM&A reductions are real increases in the CCFS, asset management and IT.

Can you provide an explanation of the primary drivers of the increase of approximately what I see as 11 percent from 2009 to 2011?

MS. VINES:  Yes, I can speak to CCF&S and asset management, and I will let Mr. Winters speak to IT.

So the overall drivers of those increases have been the steadily increasing work programs.  CF&S units are there in support of the various lines of business, which execute the work programs.

And asset management, as you have heard on the previous two panels, are responsible for planning all of the work, both transmission and distribution.  So we have had growth in the program.  We have had increasing regulatory and compliance complexities.  We have had increasing technology complexities.

What I did was just did a bit of quick math, and I think you've perhaps selected a different time period than I did, but I actually looked at CF&S and asset management costs for the period 2007 through 2012 and compared those to the work programs.

So I took work programs for OM&A totalled as set out in C1-2-1 and capital from the D1-3-1 exhibit, and I just added the values of those work programs to see how much they had grown.

So within -- and my math is subject to check, but I just did it quickly.  Within the 2007 through 2012 time period, the work programs had grown by 70 percent.  CF&S costs had increased over that same period by 35 percent.  Asset management costs had increased by that -- over that same period by 39 percent.

So I was just doing a directional test on whether there seemed to be validity to these increasing trends that you have recognized, and it does appear to be reasonable.  And, again, IT Mr. Winters could speak to.

MR. WINTERS:  Yes, I can do that.  And what I will be doing is speaking to the numbers that are laid out in a table within C1, tab 2, schedule 9, page 2, table 1.

And you will see that from 2009 to 2010 that the two major categories of that increase are sustainment and development.  Sustainment I spoke about a little earlier, and that is due to the -- 2010 represents the first full year of SAP application management, whereas 2009 and before were partial years, because we hadn't fully gone live with the solution yet.

Another contributor to the sustainment increase is just third party licensing, Microsoft licensing, Oracle licensing, HP licensing, et cetera.  It could be very volumetric.

The other major category is development.  You will see that it was 3-1/2 million in 2009 and jumps to 10.8 in 2010.

And if you actually go down to 2007, you will see that this development budget is a little bit cyclical, and the reasons for being it being so low in 2008 and 2009 is because we were under way with our Cornerstone project.  So we had, in essence, frozen or switched our effort to focus on the major capital project implementation.  Now that it is live, we will -- we have a development budget to continue to enhance and leverage that investment.

MS. HELT:  So is it the Cornerstone program, then, that is responsible for most of the increase from the 2009 at 3.5 to the 2010 at 10.8?

MR. WINTERS:  It would be enhancements to what we implemented as part of the Cornerstone project, the maintenance, as well as some third party licensing, which isn't attributed to Cornerstone.

MS. HELT:  And if we can just look at the asset management line again, at table C1, tab 2, schedule 6, page 3 of 5, the table 1, the asset management from 2009 to 2011 decreases from $40 million to $35.5, which is a decrease of about $4.5 million or 11.2 percent.

Can you just briefly explain what is the primary driver or drivers for that decrease?

MS. VINES:  Sorry, which year did you start with?

MS. HELT:  2009.

MS. VINES:  If I take you to the asset management evidence itself at C1-2-8 -- oh, I'm sorry.  The reference I was looking for is in respect of another year.

I don't know what is the driver behind the decrease in the two test years.

MR. ROGERS:  To assist, Mr. Chair, and speed this along a little bit, I am instructed it is believed there is an allocation factor change there, but could we take an undertaking to confirm that, to explain that?  Ms. Vines --


MS. HELT:  Thank you.

MR. ROGERS:  I might be wrong about that.  Ms. Vines is looking at me quizzically, but we will check it out and let you know.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  That may not be a good thing.  Thank you, Mr. Rogers.

MS. HELT:  Undertaking J5.9.  Thank you.
UNDERTAKING NO. J5.9:  TO EXPLAIN PRIMARY DRIVER BEHIND ASSET MANAGEMENT DECREASE FROM 2009 TO 2011 AT TABLE C1, TAB 2, SCHEDULE 6, PAGE 3 OF 5, TABLE 1.

MS. HELT:  If we can then just move to IT, and I have a very similar sort of question, if you can provide an explanation of the primary drivers of the increase of approximately $11.3 million or the 20 percent from 2009 to 2011, again, referenced to Exhibit C1, tab 2, schedule 6, page 3, table 1?

MR. WINTERS:  Sorry, the answer I just provided you that explained the increase -- sorry, I am referencing C1-2-6, table 1 on page 3.

MS. HELT:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. WINTERS:  The explanation I just gave you to the increase from 2009 to 2010, you will see that from 2010 to 2011 is fairly similar.

MS. HELT:  Right.

MR. WINTERS:  So the explanation I just gave you around SAP application management development and third party licences is the cause.

MS. HELT:  Is the same?

MR. WINTERS:  Yes.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Excuse me, Ms. Helt.  Just on that, Mr. Winters, you had mentioned, in response to the development increase, increased maintenance.  Could you explain that?  Maybe I am not understanding your response properly, that there would be a maintenance cost embedded in development.

MR. WINTERS:  No, I'm sorry.  I may have confused the two categories.

The maintenance is purely in the sustainment.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.

MR. WINTERS:  The investment budget is truly development, business development business enhancements.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.

MS. HELT:  All right.  I am going to now move on to some questions with respect to compensation.


I take it from my friend's previous line of questioning, that Hydro One feels that the study, the Mercer study, is -- or the Mercer report is a valid report for the purposes of this hearing; is that correct?


MR. GOLDIE:  Yes, it is.  We don't believe anything has changed with respect to -- at least with respect to our compensation on the represented side, because there have not been any discussions, negotiations since the study was done.


I think some action has been taken on the management compensation side to reduce compensation a little bit, but, generally speaking, we find it is still representative.


MS. HELT:  So Hydro One doesn't have any reason to believe that the results of the study would be different if updated with current salary levels?


MR. GOLDIE:  One moment, please.


[Witness panel confers]


MR. McDONELL:  Just to add to Mr. Goldie's comment about the Mercer study, I mean, as he said, the Mercer study is still valid.


What we also did in this filing, we took the opportunity to provide some evidence at Exhibit C1, tab 3, schedule 2, which shows the results of a ten-year study of Canadian utility sector base creases at Exhibit C1, tab 3, schedule 2, page 17.

And it just simply shows over a 10-year period of time with a number of Canadian utilities -- and you see the footnote the utilities that were surveyed -- what the average base increase was per year.  It is 3.2 percent.

In comparison to the PWU, over that very same period of time, ours is slightly higher at 3.35, and the Society of Energy Professionals was slightly lower at 3 percent.

MS. HELT:  Thank you.

In the last transmission proceeding, EB-2008-0272, the Board in its decision, at page 31 of that decision, noted that the revenue requirement would be 13 million less if it were based on the median compensation level from the Mercer study.

Can you tell me if this would also be the result in 2011 and 2012?

MR. McDONELL:  I think you are asking if we did the same analysis and brought the salary to the median level, what would be the impact on the revenue requirement?

MS. HELT:  That's correct.

MR. McDONELL:  Yes, okay.  I can give you the details for that.

So if this Board follows the same sort of reduction, we would see a reduction of 6.2 million in 2011 and 6.9 million in 2012.

MS. HELT:  And could you give me a description of the methodology you used to arrive at that figure?

MR. McDONELL:  I don't have that with me at the moment.  It is something I could get for you.

MS. HELT:  Thank you.  If I could -- subject to Mr. Rogers agreeing it?

MR. ROGERS:  Yes.

MS. HELT:  That will be Undertaking J5.10.

UNDERTAKING NO. J5.10:  to EXPLAIN METHODOLOGY FOR ESTIMATED REDUCTION IN REVENUE REQUIREMENT FOR 2011 AND 2012 BASED ON MEDIAN COMPENSATION FROM MERCER STUDY.

MS. HELT:  My next questions are going to explore the issues concerning total wages and employee increase numbers as reported in the application.

We have prepared, Board Staff has prepared a table entitled:  "Employee and compensation table."  It has been provided to Mr. Rogers, and I don't believe he has taken any exception with that.

We would like to provide it to the other parties, as well as the Panel, and have it marked as J -- I'm sorry, K5.1, if the Panel is agreeable.

It simply sets out the employee -- the total number of employees, which is information taken from Exhibit I-T1, schedule 54, and the total wages, which has been extracted from Exhibit C1, tab 3, schedule 2, page 9, with the exception that there was, for the test -- or for the year 2010, the total wages amount was corrected by way of Interrogatory I-4-35.

I think that sufficiently describes the document.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Any objection to this document, Mr. Rogers?

MR. ROGERS:  No.  Thank you.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  So it will be K5.1?

MS. HELT:  Yes, thank you.

EXHIBIT NO. K5.1:  BOARD STAFF TABLE ENTITLED "EMPLOYEE AND COMPENSATION TABLE."

MS. HELT:  Does the witness panel have a copy of the document?

MR. McDONELL:  We do.

MS. HELT:  Thank you.  Do you have any comments on the document, as you see it?  Is there anything that strikes you as, you know, not accurate or not true?

I am then going to ask you some specific questions about it, but just at first blush?

MR. McDONELL:  I took a quick opportunity to take a look at your 2011-2012 figures, and they correspond to what we submitted in this application.

MS. HELT:  Thank you.  Let me just have a moment.  All right, then, as you can see for the bridge year 2010, the total number of employees grew by 18 percent and the total wages by 19.6 percent, to yield a 1.4 percent change in the wage per employee.  Can you tell us what this may mean?

For instance, can we surmise that Hydro One hired mainly lower-cost employees in 2010, because if they had not, then the total wages per employee would have increased by approximately 3 percent?

MR. McDONELL:  Yes.  I'm not sure you could -- I mean, I think that might be part of it.  I'm not sure that's the complete answer.

And the difficulty I have is just the way in which that table is put together.  And I guess my initial comment is it makes, somewhat, sense to me, in the sense that we're seeing an increase in staff.  And by the way -- and I don't think you said this -- but it is both regular and non-regular.  I don't think that is a dispute between us.  It's regular and --


MS. HELT:  That's correct.

MR. McDONELL:  That's correct.  So an 18 percent increase from 2009, and you would expect to see your total wages going up, of that magnitude, because you would also have an economic increase as well.

So that seems to make sense to me.

Whether or not the 1.4 percent is reflective of the fact that we're hiring cheaper staff, if you will, there might be something to that, but I think it also may have to do with the fact that this chart, as we have mentioned a couple of times, captures staff that are hired on or -- as of December 31st.  The total wage category comes from our T4 slips from our pay system.  So it could very well be you might be comparing apples to oranges, because you may be comparing staff in one year that were with the company longer, and the next year, staff may not have been on payroll as long.

That might be why you might see a reduction in the wage per employee being less, perhaps.

MS. HELT:  Thank you.

MR. McDONELL:  So I think the answer is there's a variety of reasons.

MS. HELT:  But this is information that Hydro One has provided; that's correct?

MR. McDONELL:  That is correct.

MS. HELT:  Correct?  Thank you.  If we look at the year 2011, we see that hiring has been reduced from 18 percent in 2010 to 4-1/2 percent increase in 2011.

And the wages, the total wages jump by 6.7 percent, yielding a wage divided by employee increase of approximately 2.1 percent.

Can you provide some insight as to why this measure changed by the 2.1 percent, as opposed to the 1.4 percent in the previous year?

MR. McDONELL:  Yes.  I think it goes back to my previous answer.

It probably depends on when the staff came in, the organization in that particular year.  That might -- in 2011, I mean, obviously they haven't come in yet.

Just one moment.

[Witness panel confers.]

MR. McDONELL:  Let me just back up a little bit, if you don't mind.

For the 2011, I think partial -- a partial explanation could be the costing with respect to our Society staff.  In 2010, Society staff would have received a 3 percent economic increase.  2011, it was -- it will be a 2-1/2 percent economic increase.

That might partially explain the increase in total wages, perhaps.

MS. HELT:  And for 2012, does the agreement equate to the increase in 3 percent?

MR. McDONELL:  2012 for the Society is a 2-1/2 percent increase.

MS. HELT:  All right, thank you.  Just a general question.  I was wondering if Hydro One will be experiencing an impact of the provincial government's desired to limit public sector wage increases to zero in the 2011 to 2013 period?

MR. GOLDIE:  Certainly the -- I guess there are two aspects to that.  The first is the legislation which is in place which affects non-represented staff, and that is already in place.  And management staff will have their compensation maintained at net zero for the next two years.

With respect to represented staff, it is a little bit different situation.  It is not part of the legislation.  It is a government policy statement.

And that statement is that they would like employers in the greater public sector and their bargaining units to reach net zero compensation increases for two years following the expiration of their collective agreement.

The Society -- or, I'm sorry, the PWU collective agreement, as you have heard, expires April of next year.  The Society agreement expires in 2013.

The expectation going into bargaining is that we are going -- the company will be trying to achieve net zero increases with both of those bargaining agents for a two-year period.

But I think it is important to recognize that's not a legislated requirement.  That is a policy statement.  And the reason that I make the differentiation, if it is law, it is law.  If it is a policy statement, it is an intent.  And we will do our best to get there.

A couple of recent arbitrations, which is one of the difficulties we have with arbitration, have ruled that that policy statement is not binding on employers and bargaining agents, which makes it very difficult -- even more difficult to be able to achieve that.

MS. HELT:  Am I correct in saying, however, that this is not reflected in your application?

MR. GOLDIE:  No, it's not at the present time.  What is reflected in the application is a 3 percent increase.

MS. HELT:  So --


MR. GOLDIE:  Sorry, 3 percent increase for the bargaining agents, but not for management staff.  For management staff, it is zero for the two-year period.

I'm sorry, let me correct that again.  For PWU, it is 3 percent.  For the Society over that period, it is 2-1/2.  For management it is zero.

MS. HELT:  And that is what is reflected in your application?

MR. GOLDIE:  That's correct.

MS. HELT:  And can you just explain what the rationale was for not including it, the impact, in your application?

MR. GOLDIE:  Well, yes, there is two reasons.

First is I guess they're both related.  We had the 3 percent in, and we did not change it at the time that the government policy statement came out, because there are puts and takes on these sort of things.

And even though there is a 3 percent increase which -- 3 and 2-1/2, which in the case of the 3 percent may or may not be there, the 2-1/2 percent for the Society is there.  That's contractual.

The issue with PWU is that we included it because there are other puts and takes, for example, in the pension area.  There may be an offsetting factor there.  And we didn't see the value in going back and making that change.

The other issue is that we are concerned about the practicality of being able to achieve that net zero, particularly now in light of the arbitration cases which have come out, where originally, because it was a policy statement, we thought that it would be understood and adhered to with the bargaining agents.

With the arbitrator's decision saying it is not a requirement, it makes it much more difficult to be able to guarantee that.

MS. HELT:  Thank you.

MR. GOLDIE:  You're welcome.

MS. HELT:  Just one final set of questions, then.  It is with respect to VECC IR I-4-35.

MR. GOLDIE:  Okay.

MS. HELT:  Now, if we look at the chart, it appears that the PWU regular staff appears to be growing every year from 2007 to 2002, going from 3,084 to 3,945 -- I'm sorry, to 2012.

And the PWU temporary staff does not seem to grow in the same way.  In fact, from 2009 through to 2012, it appears to be stabilized at a level of 234.

Why would that be?  Why would the number not change?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. McDONELL:  Let me just try to clear up a little bit of confusion here, because we have spoken at length about the use of our contingency workforce.  We spent a lot of time talking about the PWU hiring hall, which we rely on fairly heavily.

And, actually, those numbers don't reflect in the PWU temporary employees.  They would be grouped under the casual employees, which would also include construction employees, as well.  And, again - and we talked about this a couple of times - this is the year end head count.  So what you don't see here is a number -- a large number of contingency employees being used throughout the year.

With respect to your PWU temporary classification that you pointed out, those would be mostly consisting of summer students, co-op students, temporary admin help, but the largest contingency would really fall under our casual.

MS. HELT:  Okay.  Then if we can look at the casual numbers, it looks like for the years 2008 -- 2007, 2008 there is an increase of approximately 20 percent each year, and then it slows in 2009, approximately 30 percent in 2010, and then for the test years, it appears to be approximately 3 percent.

Can you just explain why there is such a change or a low growth in the test years for the casual employees?

MR. McDONELL:  Again, I think it is a little bit misleading just because of that snapshot on December 31st.  In the previous years where you are pointing to, the actual numbers, that would just be a function of how many employees were laid off in that particular year.  It might have been a warmer year where we didn't have to lay off as many seasonal staff, or vice versa.

But -- and I believe both Mr. Goldie and I have spoken to it a couple of times today.  We still rely very heavily upon a contingent workforce.  We do look and target around 40 percent of our workforce to be contingent.

So as the workforce increases, we would expect our contingency workforce to increase, as well.

MS. HELT:  Just with respect to the PWU temp, and it is a similar question to what I asked with respect to that concerning the Society temporary employees.

It seems to remain the same, at approximately 85, from 2009 to 2012.  Is there any reason for that?

MR. McDONELL:  Yes.  I think it is fair to say, especially in the Society ranks, we would not have the ability to hire as many temporary employees.

The Society workforce is made up of predominantly engineers, analysts, other types of professionals, typically not something we would be hiring a temporary employee for.

MS. HELT:  Thank you.  Those are my questions.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.

Mr. Rogers?
Re-Examination by Mr. Rogers:

MR. ROGERS:  Thank you, sir.  Just one question.

Mr. Goldie, you said to -- I think it was my friend Ms. Helt that -- I mean, she'd asked you why you hadn't reduced the revenue requirement request to take account of the government direction, I will say, to keep the PWU spending at -- wage increase to zero, net zero.

You mentioned some off -- puts and takes.  As I understood, you had mentioned the pension offset, for example.

I don't know whether you are competent to tell us what you meant by that, that pension offset, or not, or whether that is something another panel will deal with.

Help us a little bit.  What were you referring to?

MR. GOLDIE:  Sure.

[Witness panel confers.]

MR. GOLDIE:  Yes, Mr. Rogers.  I don't think I am the best to talk about it in detail.  It is an issue of pension valuation, and I think Mr. Struthers on panel 4 would be the best one to speak to that.

MR. ROGERS:  We can put it to him, I guess.  But I assume that your belief is that somehow the pension costs would be higher than in the application, which would then offset the --


MR. GOLDIE:  That's correct.

MR. ROGERS:  -- this wage increase issue?

MR. GOLDIE:  That's correct.

MR. ROGERS:  All right.  Thank you.  Those are my questions.  Thank you, sir.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you very much.

The Panel has no questions.

We will -- before we adjourn, is there anything anyone wants to raise this afternoon?

We will adjourn until tomorrow morning at 9:30.  We'll have a short day tomorrow, closing at around 2:00 o'clock.  We will try to organize that around a kind of quasi-lunch break arrangement somewhere in the middle of the day, if that suits everyone.

I would like to thank the panel.  You are excused.  You have been very helpful, and we appreciate your input.

And we will adjourn until tomorrow morning at 9:30.  Thank you.

--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 4:28 p.m.
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